
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Policy Overview 
Committee

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman)

Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S H Brown
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor S P Butterfill
Councillor L A Canham
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor L H K Edie
Councillor B Garden
Councillor K J Grehan

Councillor R A S Jones
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor D T Nicklen
Councillor T Oliver
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 18 June 2019

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
10 JUNE 2019



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday 18 June 2019

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 19 March 2019 (Pages 1 - 16)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any) 

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 17 - 18)
To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 May 2019 to 30 September 2019.

7. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 19 March 2019 (Pages 19 - 22)

SD (IS)

To note the list of actions points arising from the Committee meeting 
held on 19 March 2019 and comment accordingly.

8. Welfare Reform Update (Pages 23 - 28)
To update Members on the impact of the roll-out of Universal Credit 
Full Service across the Borough.

9. Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report, Quarter 4 of the 2018/19 Municipal Year 
(Pages 29 - 48)
This report updates Members on the progress made with meeting the 
key actions and performance indicators for the Corporate Plan in the 
fourth quarter of the 2018/19 municipal cycle, as set out in 
Appendices A and B to the report.

10. Policy Overview Committee Annual Report for the 2018/19 
Municipal Year (Pages 49 - 50)



This Item is marked as ‘To-Follow’.

11. Policy Overview Committee Protocol (Pages 51 - 68)
To note the Committee’s Protocol attached at Appendix A to the 
report.

12. Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and 
Combined Authorities (Pages 69 - 102)
To note the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
guidance attached at Appendix A to the covering report.

13. Committee Rolling Work Plan for 2019/20 and Beyond (Pages 
103 - 106)
The review the draft rolling Work Plan for the Committee for the 
ensuing 2019/20 municipal year and beyond and comment 
accordingly.



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 19 
March 2019 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor B Garden
Councillor J Jones
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE

ABSENT: Councillor S H Brown
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor R Lees
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D Page
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey
Councillor R J Wells

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Trish Chapman – Dartford Borough Resident’s Forum

Sue Brasher – Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS 
CCG)

Gail Arnold – DGS CCG
Lee Busher – Virgin Care Ltd.
Ash Capel – Virgin Care Ltd.

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services)

Adrian Gowan – Policy & Corporate Support 
Manager

39. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors Brown, Burrell, 
Lees, J M Ozog, Page, Storey and Wells.

The Chairman welcomed Members, guests and officers to the final meeting of 
the Policy Overview Committee in the current municipal year, and his final 
meeting as Chairman of the Committee.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

2

Members agreed the Chairman’s proposal to a change in the published order 
of business. In deference to guests from the Health Care sector who were 
making presentations to the Committee that evening, it was agreed that Item 
8 Health Care Services for Dartford would be taken immediately following 
Member Declarations of Interest (Item 2). 

40. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillors Coleman and T Maddison asked that it be noted for the record 
that members of their families worked at Darenth Valley Hospital. 

Councillor Maria Kelly advised that she worked for the NHS Trust at Darenth 
Valley Hospital.

Councillor Sandhu advised that he was a Governor for both Dartford & 
Gravesham and Kent NHS Trusts.

None of the above declarations prevented the Members from participating in 
the meeting.

41. HEALTH CARE SERVICES FOR DARTFORD 

The Chairman renewed his welcome on behalf of the Committee to: Sue 
Braysher, Director of System Transformation for Dartford, Gravesham & 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS CCG); Gail Arnold, Deputy 
Managing Director DGS CCG; Dr. Stephen Fenlon, Medical Director, Dartford 
& Gravesham NHS Trust; Lee Busher, Head of Clinical Services, Virgin Care 
Limited and Ash Capel, Quality & Clinical Effectiveness Lead, Virgin Care. 

The Committee accepted the Chairman’s proposal that Sue Braysher and Gail 
Arnold update Members orally on their new joint roles for the CCG and the 
NHS Trust, followed by a PowerPoint presentation from Dr Fenlon detailing 
the D&G Trust operation, with a concluding PowerPoint presentation from Lee 
Busher and Ash Capel on behalf of Virgin Care.

Sue Braysher advised the Committee that she had taken up her new joint role 
as Director of Systems Transformation for both the DGS CCG and the D&G 
NHS Trust in October 2018. She explained that under the overall umbrella of 
NHS Kent & Medway, the current 8 (eight) separate Clinical Commissioning 
Groups currently operating across Kent would, over the next 18 month to 2 
year period, gradually combine to form a single Strategic Commissioning 
Group for Kent, whilst continuing to operate on a regional basis using their 
local knowledge, in East Kent, North & West Kent, Dartford Gravesham and 
Swanley, Swale and Medway.

Gail Arnold, Deputy Managing Director for the DGS CCG advised Members 
that the new focus for health was ‘Integrated Care’ viewed through the 
resident/patient lens, to optimise the ‘patient journey’ along a connected G.P.  
Hospital, NHS Trust and CCG pathway.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

3

She advised that both the Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust and the Dartford 
Gravesham & Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS CCG) were now 
in funding deficit. In the absence of any further central funding to directly 
reduce those deficits it was proposed to bring all parties round the table to 
identify savings through the integration where possible of existing health 
services across both bodies, linked to existing and continued employment and 
training of staff, under an Integrated Care Partnership Board. Under these 
new arrangements, it was hoped to address the current difficulties over G.P. 
recruitment and the filling of Consultant posts by looking at the potential for 
different partnership and employment arrangements with other NHS Trusts 
and CCGs.

Going forward, it was envisaged that by March 2020 the DGS CCG would 
cease to exist as a separate entity and be integrated within the Strategic CCG 
for Kent as a whole. Under the new integrated care partnership model, new 
PCN contracts would be brought in where existing G.P. practices were 
integrated into a Primary Care Network (PCN) comprising G.P.s, Dentists, 
Pharmacists and Optometrists to care collectively for between 30,000 to 
50,000 patients. The figure of 30,000 would be the standard minimum number 
for a PCN in terms of a critical mass of patients to obtain the maximum 
efficiency across all health care disciplines, whilst retaining local knowledge of 
those patients. The figure of 50,000 patients would be seen as a maximum 
patient number for PCNs with 60,000 and above likely to be split into 2 
separate PCNs unless exceptionality applied for special circumstances. 
Existing G.P. practices would be required to participate in a PCN with a G.P. 
from each PCN being nominated in the role of lead accountable clinician 
within the PCN with a range of responsibilities yet to be announced. It was 
important that Primary Care Networks were co-terminus, and created a 
natural geography of communities, and inter-acted effectively with other 
services to allow the PCN to fully benefit from the richer skills mix available 
from other clinical professionals.

Members were advised that the current priorities for existing CCG’s were:

 Addressing the shortage of G.P.s;
 Addressing the shortage of specialist Nurses and experienced 

Paramedics;
 Raising the need for affordable private accommodation for NHS staff;
 Ensuring large enough premises for PCNs to enable all disciplines 

represented within the team to be available to patients every day.
  

Priority areas of concern for the DGS CCG were respiratory, cardio-vascular 
disease and strokes, with the aim of reducing the diagnoses gap for patients 
to improve outcomes and patient quality of life post diagnosis, and Frailty – 
including maintaining care whenever possible in the home environment for the 
frail and the elderly. Treatment at home, including adapting properties where 
necessary/desirable, achieved better outcomes for patients suffering from 
dementia, sight or hearing loss, and at risk of falling - rather than moving 
patient’s unnecessarily outside their home environment for treatment. 
Medication reviews undertaken in the home were also easier for these 
patients. Increased investment into mental health care was also proposed by 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

4

the DGS CCG to enable such patients to benefit from a holistic treatment 
approach, undertaken by multi-disciplinary teams (MDTs) to address their 
complex and often inter-related patient needs and identify solutions.  Under 
the auspices of the Public Health Joint Strategy, a needs assessment was 
being undertaken for the DGS CCG to obtain a better profile of that patient 
need.

Members next received a PowerPoint presentation from Doctor Steve Fenlon, 
Medical Director for the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust, which covered 
the following principal areas in considerable detail:

2017/18 Achievements and Performance

 Provision of acute services by 2,000+ staff across three main sites at 
Darent Valley Hospital Dartford, Queen Mary’s Hospital in Sidcup and 
Elm Court residential home also in Dartford;

 Darent Valley a PFI hospital has 463 inpatient beds with specialist care 
services including, day-care and general surgery, trauma, 
orthopaedics, cardiology, maternity and general medical care;

 Queen Mary’s Hospital Sidcup provides both day and short stay 
impatient surgery, orthopaedic, outpatients and radiology services;

 Elm Court residential home provides intermediate care for patients 
transitioning from hospital to a home care setting;

 The Trust serves a population of approx. 350,000 residents across 
Dartford, Gravesham, Swanley, Ebbsfleet and increasingly Bexley.

Achievements in 2017/18

  Establishment of a service for elderly patients (POPS team) to 
optimise preparation for surgery, including a more detailed patient 
history and housing need assessment, combined with post-operative 
recovery. The new service had received very positive feedback from 
G.P.s;

 Opening of the Planned Care Centre at Queen Mary’s Hospital with 
ring-fenced beds for surgical procedures, freeing additional beds for 
surgery at Darent Valley Hospital;

 Healthcare alliance established with Guys and St. Thomas’s Hospital;
 New gamma camera to improve Nuclear Medicine Service improving 

the diagnostic capability for cancer patients in particular;
 In the top 20% Trust staff recommending the Trust as a good place to 

work or receive treatment, and for staff to contribute towards 
improvements to their work.

Key 2017/18 Statistics

 39,000+ Emergency Admissions - an increase of 7% from 2016/17;
 326,000+ Outpatient Attendances - reduction of 1.2% from 2016/17;
 4,800+ Births – small reduction of 0.8% from 2016/17 but still very 

good;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

5

 41,000+ Elective (Overnight & Day Case) Admissions –reduction of 2% 
from 2016/17 with a consistent split between Darent Valley Dartford 
and Queen Mary’s Sidcup;

 104,500 Emergency Attendances – 2.4% increase from 2016/17 with 
the ‘open door’ no control admission system to A&E producing year on 
year increases to a system that was now overloaded with work 
required across the board to improve matters. Some 30-40% of 
attendees were admitted on a ‘high’ needs basis, but the number of 
attendees that actually required acute treatment was average. 

Operational and Clinical Performance in 2017/18

 4 hour wait in Accident and Emergency (A&E) which represented a 
90% average against a standard of 95% with the present 2018/19 
Winter more challenged, but expected to improve by Spring;

 The standard for Cancer waiting times was achieved;
 The standard for treatment referral within 18 weeks was achieved;
 C Difficile (Hospital infection) cases had decreased from 20 in 2016/17 

to 15 in 2017/18;
 MRSA cases 6 in 2017/18.

Financial Performance in 2017/18
 The Trust ended the year with a £18.6M deficit against a plan to deliver 

a £1.6M surplus relating to an 80% deficit across the Trust;
 The Trust did deliver a £6.5M savings programme;
 Trust income increased by 1.9%compared to a 10.6% increase in 

2016/17;
 Trust costs increased by 7.6% similar to the increase in 2016/17;
 The Trust invested £8.2M of capital funding including £3M for medical 

equipment, £3.5M FOR Estates and £1.7M for IM&T.

Care Quality Commission (CQC) Update

 The CQC last visited the Trust in November 2017 and published its 
subsequent report in March 2018. The CQC was expected to re-visit 
the Trust in mid - 2019 and the required data had been submitted to 
the CQC in preparation for that further visit, which was expected to 
show improvements to the Trust’s performance post November 2017.

Quality Improvement Plan (QIP)

 To provide clarity about structures, policy and standards with a plan 
to ensure that these issues are communicated clearly;

 An increased inspection of standards programme was being met to 
ensure high quality patient care was maintained;

 Staff were supported to meet standards, whilst being provided with 
clarity around being fairly held to account; 

 To ensure that consistent learning from incidents was shared;
 To ensure consistent application of the Trust’s Behaviours – including 

support for constructive challenge.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

6

QIP – Clinical Standards

To ensure a consistent high standard of care for patients by:

 Adhering to best practice in infection control at all times;
 Following safeguarding practices at all times;
 Improving knowledge of the Mental Capacity Act and applying it;
 Demonstrating high standards of consistent and contemporaneous 

clinical records; 
 Ensuring confidentiality of clinical notes;
 A focussed and proactive approach to ensuring patient privacy and 

dignity e.g. single sex bays and time in recovery.

Midwifery

 Obstetric theatre nurses on a 24/7 basis;
 Midwife: birth ratios – birth-rate + review.

 Trust’s 5 Priorities for 2018/19

 Organisational development and culture;
 Improvements to infection prevention and control which was still an 

issue;
 Compliance with the Mental Health Capacity Act and safeguarding 

standards;
 Organisation communication, including translation services;
 Learning from incidents, patient complaints and feedback.

Monitoring of the Trust Plan

The Trust reported to the Board and liaised with the CQC on a regular basis 
to ensure that any areas of concern were identified promptly:

 The Trust led the feedback process in the monthly Improvement and 
Implementation Working Group;

 The Trust reported to the Quality and Safety Committee which in turn 
reported directly to the Trust Board;

 CCG and NHS Improvement measures were subjected to challenge 
and review on a monthly basis;

 A programme of monthly visits was undertaken across the main Trust 
facilities;

 CQC engagement visits were also undertaken on a regular basis;
 A programme of Quality inspections was also undertaken.

Foundation Healthcare Group Update

Following initial funding from NHS England for the first 3 years of operation as 
a Vanguard, the on-going alliance with Guy’s and St. Thomas’s NHS 
Foundation Trust continued to flourish. A group model had been developed 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

7

which focused on clinical and non-clinical workstreams, to explore how each 
Trust could support the other. 

The 3 clinical workstreams of Paediatrics, Cardiology and Vascular had now 
reached a ‘business as usual’ status, whilst work remained ongoing in the 
non-clinical workstreams. The group model had been approved by the Trust’s 
Board in March 2018 and was in its ‘proof-of-concept’ year for 2018-19.

The focus for 2019 was on the following 10 workstreams:

 Job planning and clinical leads development;
 Education, training and development;
 Leadership;
 Improvement;
 Research;
 Outpatient/digital transformation;
 Queen Mary’s Hospital Sidcup;
 Nursing development;
 Radiology reporting;
 Referral to treatment management best practice.

The above workstreams had been resourced and progress was currently 
being made. The next steps included the development of an implementation 
plan for the Five Year Strategy, a Financial Strategy and an Annual Plan for 
2019/20.

Performance in 2019/20

 4 hour wait in Accident & Emergency was at an 89% average, below 
the standard 95% target, but improving following the annual ‘Winter dip’ 
however crucial cases continued to receive priority in the triage system 
of assessment and treatment;

 Cancer waiting time standards continued to be achieved [as in 
2017/18];

 Referral to Treatment within 18 weeks was at 91.1%, slightly below the 
92% standard;

 C Difficile was down to 10 cases and MRSA Bacteraemia down to only 
1 case, which represented a significant improvement in both areas of 
performance.

Financial Performance 2018/19

 The Trust had been given a Control Total of £5.1M deficit for 2018/19;

 That deficit Control Total included Provider Sustainability Fund (PSF) 
funding of £5.1M, which was received on a quarterly basis, linked to 
the meeting of key A&E and Finance performance milestones. Those 
targets were not currently being met, and as a consequence, the Trust 
was unlikely to receive any further PSF funding in the current financial 
cycle;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

8

 To date £3.8M of savings had been achieved against the Savings 
programme target of £13.3M. The current financial forecast for the 
Trust for the 2018/19 financial cycle was a deficit of £20.1M.

Trust measures being taken to improve Performance

 Financial controls were in place, drivers of the deficit were being 
reviewed for both the Trust and the DGS CCG;

 Ongoing focus on infection prevention and control;
 Ongoing delivery of CQC Action Plan, including updating following 

CQC visit in October 2018;
 Provision of additional clinics where possible, to improve waiting times 

for outpatient appointments;
 Maximising the existing capacity of Queen Mary’s Hospital for more 

surgery procedures;
 Working with health and social care providers to reduce A&E 

attendances and improve discharge rates.

The Chairman thanked the Medical Director for a very comprehensive 
presentation on behalf of the NHS Trust, and asked Members to reserve their 
questions for a joint Q&A session with all three guest bodies, following the 
final presentation from Virgin Care.

Members next received a joint presentation on behalf of Virgin Care Limited 
from Mr Lee Busher (Head of Clinical Services) and Mr Ash Capel (Quality & 
Clinical Effectiveness Lead) which gave an overview of Virgin Care’s services 
within the DGS CCG under the following general headings:

The Virgin Care Journey (so far)

Virgin Care’s contract with the DGS CCG had commenced on 26 September 
2016 with a remit to provide Adult Community Services in the following 
categories;

 Care Co-ordination Centre – SPA includes Social Care;
 Community In-patients – Rehabilitation & Neurological Rehab;
 Community Nursing – 7,500 contacts per month;
 Specialist Nursing – Respiratory, Cardiac, Diabetes, MS, Cancer, 

Modern Matrons (trained to prescribe medication);
 Community Therapies – Speech & Language, Community Neuro 

Rehab, Falls;
 Intermediate Care Teams – Rapid Response Nursing, OT & PT Rapid 

Response (2 hour window aimed at preventing hospitalisation);
 Phlebotomy – Community & Out-patients;
 Podiatry 

Virgin Care Ltd. now had some 520 professional staff operating across both 
the DGS and Swale CCGs working to:



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

9

 Enhance the knowledge & skills of the local leadership teams to 
increase the focus of supporting residents and colleagues;

 Deliver significant transformation [of services];
 Increase the quality of services.

Virgin Care Transformation in Dartford, Gravesham, Swanley and Swale

Members were advised that the transformation achieved by Virgin Care Ltd. 
could best be summarised by the ‘Big Three’ triangle of interrelated elements 
of Care Coordination, the Rapid Response and OOHs Project, and the 
Community Hospital Project as set out in detail on slide 5 of the presentation. 

The main elements of that transformation were to support the wider CCG 
structure, reduce attendance at A&E and promote home treatment, and could 
be summarised as follows:

 The change to an 8 a.m. to 8 p.m. service commitment from the 
previous 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. service;

  Single leadership support structure;
 Coordinated Teams;
 Addition of a Consultant Geriatrician;
 Landscape changes to the geography of the Adult Care provision 

across the DGS CCG;
 Social Care co-located in Care Coordination Centres with the needs of 

80% of callers met by telephone on a single dedicated number. Callers 
with more complex needs were sign-posted to those services.

Patient Experience

 Patient experience and recommendation rates had stabilised since 
Virgin Care began delivery of its services in2016;

 Throughout 2018/19 to date, over 95% of patients now consistently 
recommended Virgin Care’s services to their friends or family;

 Where a patient indicated that they were unlikely to recommend Virgin 
Care’s services, action was taken to address the issues raised;

 Each month all Virgin Care teams completed a ‘You Said’ ‘We Did’ 
action, which demonstrated how the patient feedback had been acted 
upon to improve the patient experience;

 More innovative initiatives could be supported under the ‘Feel the 
Difference Fund’ made available across Virgin Care.

Patient Reported Experience Measures

Virgin Care undertook a regime of constant consultation with both patients 
and their families and regularly audited all aspects of their care environment. 
Virgin Care’s philosophy was to employ staff who wanted to care and make a 
difference, with patient relations training available to staff who requested or 
needed it. 

Current data for Virgin Care’s patients revealed that:



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

10

 93.87% of patients felt involved in their care;
 92.87% of patients felt they received enough privacy in their care from 

Virgin Care;
 96.13% of patients said that they were treated respectfully by the Virgin 

Care teams.

The Future 2019-2020

Virgin Care’s priorities within the DGS CCG included:

 Continuing to work with both CCGs [DGS and Swale] to develop 
Integrated multidisciplinary teams to help deliver the Local Care 
Models through an holistic approach;

 Integrated working with partners e.g. integration of Single point of 
access within their CCG;

 Working more cohesively to provide patient care where the patient 
wants or needs it;

 Continued focus on recruitment by making rotational appointments to 
increase partnerships and promote teams working across the system;

 Introduction of staff from other services into Care Coordination Centres 
to improve joined-up working to deliver the local care model.

Delivering the Dartford, Gravesham, Swanley and Swale’s Visions

Members were shown a muti-faceted organogram which detailed each stage 
and goal of Virgin Care’s 4 year delivery programme for each CCG and were 
advised that delivery was ahead of schedule.

The Chairman thanked the Virgin Care representatives, and the 
representatives from the DGS CCG and the NHS Trust for their presentations 
and background comments which contained, in his view, a great deal of very 
positive news for Dartford residents. 

He advised that the role of the Committee was in part to lobby for services, 
including health services, on behalf of Dartford residents. He asked whether 
the Committee could assist in lobbying for extra funding for the DGS CCG, 
D&G NHS Trust or Virgin Care Ltd. from the County authority or central 
government, to help meet salary and recruitment demands, especially in 
competition with Inner London competitors.

Sue Braysher (DGS CCG) advised Members that 7 out of every 10 school 
leavers were needed by the NHS to sustain the present level of health 
services nation-wide going forward. The continuing alliance between D&G 
and Guy’s and St. Thomas’s NHS Trusts was growing in importance, with 
more work [and funding] required around clinical teams to improve their skills. 
It was not just a question of Trust salaries, but an issue across the NHS and 
the public sector. Key worker housing was a particular issue. Older and 
younger NHS staff were less challenged in the current housing market, but 
staff with families were facing a real challenge over housing need. Education 
was another key area with more apprenticeships needed and better career 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

11

structures and rotation of skills to improve careers required across the NHS to 
attract staff and encourage those within the system.

Dr. Fenlon (D&G NHS Trust) advised Members that wages at St. Mary’s 
Hospital Sidcup were better than those offered at Darent Valley Hospital and 
that better careers advice was needed for school leavers to ensure that they 
were aware of the whole gamut of careers available within the NHS. At 
present, the NHS was dependent on immigrant workers and the Trust actively 
supported EU and foreign workers currently working in the NHS as much as it 
could.

Gail Arnold (DGS CCG) informed Members that Primary Care and G.P. 
premises costs were sometimes high both for businesses and family 
practitioners. Younger G.P.s in particular could no longer afford their part of 
the Practice mortgage and a mortgage for a family home, and were 
increasingly having to go to private finance companies who often sold 
Practice mortgages on to private service companies, who charged additional 
costs. Council land space and possible financing of G.P. practices was a 
possibility to be examined in the future.

In response to subsequent specific questions from Members, the following 
points were confirmed by CCG, Trust and Virgin Care representatives:

 The D&G and Guy’s & St. Thomas’s Trusts undertook staff exchanges 
in the fields of Diagnostics and Radiology, A&E was ‘too big a beast’ to 
benefit from staff interchange at present. Staff exchanges in 
Paediatrics and Strokes were scheduled for 2020 also Cancer. 
Radiology services was yet to be bench-marked between the two 
hospitals given their disparate sizes;

 No figures were available for the number of staff from the Kent 
Community Trust that had been transferred under TUPE terms to work 
for Virgin Care Ltd;

 Under Virgin Care arrangements, a percentage of Podiatry 
appointments were reserved for diabetic patients and those in need of 
urgent clinical need. As a consequence, future routine appointments 
for existing patients were  notified by letter, rather than confirmed at 
the previous appointment;

 Proposals for the co-location of urgent treatment centres at Darent 
Valley or Gravesend Community Hospital were currently subject to a 
consultation process. The proposal was for current services to be re-
located with other main-stream services using a 
viable/sustainable/resilient model, a hard balancing act to achieve, 
requiring location where a full suite of services was available, not just 
geographical location e.g. Livingstone Hospital [mooted by a Member] 
which did not meet these key criteria;

 To address the projected £20M deficit the DGS CCG and D&G NHS 
Trust had to ensure better use of its existing finances across the entire 
operation, avoiding duplication by slicing away at the edges and 
forming new effective partnerships within the existing system, and 
promoting G.P. secondary care relationships. A willingness to 
embrace change across the system was required rather than a need 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

12

to target constituent parts of the existing operation, which was required 
to succeed as a whole. Cost not price was the primary consideration to 
establish a new base model of services going forward. The existing 
national tariff for services imposed on a demographic basis was 
flawed, using money across the national NHS system would be more 
effective;

 Emergency planning in the event of a ‘No-Deal’ Brexit had been 
underway for some 2 years. Traffic congestion for staff getting to work 
and returning home and medical supplies were seen as the most 
urgent consideration for Kent, given traffic delays on the major arterial 
routes to and from the Channel ports. Industry did not appear to be 
stockpiling medical supplies, and staff rostering was being addressed 
within normal contingency planning measures;

 On-line pharmacies still required G.P. sign-off to dispense medicines. 
Community pharmacies would be getting extra funding through a new 
model, to help them compete with on-line services. Pharmacy Nurses 
were being given sign-off powers under the new community model; 

 Unification of radiology services between Darent Valley and Queen 
Mary’s Hospitals had been ongoing for some time, with electronic 
transfer of records now available between DVH and Queen Mary’s. 
The reluctance (sic) of West Dartford G.P.s to refer patients to Queen 
Mary’s for radiology services would be chased up by the CCG.

The Chairman expressed his thanks to the staff of all three health service 
providers for their provision to Dartford residents, and congratulated Darent 
Valley Hospital on their achievement in reducing the incidents of infectious 
dieses contracted at the hospital in the last period under review. He also 
noted that patient satisfaction and the patient experience had been recorded 
as ‘Good’ at DVH and asked if a similar satisfaction survey was made of the 
staff working at the hospital. 

Members were advised that the Trust undertook an annual staff survey, 
bench-marked to cover national NHS questions. Staff satisfaction across the 
NHS as a whole had dropped in recent years and for the first time, staff 
satisfaction levels amongst DVL staff had also dropped in the current year. It 
was also confirmed that staff satisfaction surveys were held by the CCG with 
a Champion assigned to speak to staff, and by Virgin Care Ltd.

In answer to a final question from the Chairman, Ash Capel (Virgin Care) 
advised that patient rehabilitation was still provided across the Livingston and 
Gravesham Community Hospitals. Sapphire Ward in Gravesham undertook 
neurological re-hab, where specialist staff were available on all wards to help 
the patient to ‘step-down’ into the community and transition home.

Sue Braysher on behalf of the CCG and the Trust expressed her thanks to the 
Chairman and the Committee for their expressions of thanks. It was not the 
tradition of the NHS to seek praise and Members’ appreciation of their efforts 
was welcomed. Lobbying on behalf of NHS services could help e.g. the new 
Stroke Unit at DVH secured with Council support being a prime example, and 
the Council’s continued support in the future was welcomed.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

13

The Chairman expressed his thanks on behalf of the Committee to all guests 
from the CCG, Trust and Virgin Care and invited them back to update the 
Committee again in March 2020.

42. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 11 DECEMBER 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 11 
December 2018 be confirmed as accurate.

43. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no items of urgency for the 
Committee to consider. 

44. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

The Chairman advised that there were no references from other Committees 
for Members to consider.

45. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 February 2019 to 30 June 2019.

46. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 11 DECEMBER 2018 

The Chairman and Members agreed the following action with regard to the 
Action Points from the Committees previous meeting on 11 December 2018 
as detailed in the Committee Co-ordinator’s report:

Item 1 Health Funding: Noted

Item 2 RELAT Medway & North Kent: Noted

Item 3 Kent Public Health Service Update: The Committee Co-ordinator 
would remind the Chairman of the HOSC that a response to the POC 
Chairman remained outstanding.

Item 4 Dartford Preventative Health Projects Annual Report 2017/18: It 
was hoped that the new Action Plan for 2019/20 would be made available to 
Members when the 2018/19 Annual Report was presented to the Committee 
in December.

Item 5 Welfare Reform Update: Noted



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

14

Item 6 Corporate Plan – Key Questions and Performance Indicators, 
Quarter 2 of 2018/19 Municipal Year: Noted

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the action taken in response to the points identified 
by the Committee at their meeting on 11 December 2018 as set out in 
the report. 

47. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT, QUARTER 3 OF 2018/19 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

RESOLVED;

1. That Members note the contents of the report.

48. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ROLLING WORK PLAN 

This report set out a rolling Work Plan for the Committee for the ensuing 
2019/20 municipal year (attached as Appendix A to the report).

The Chairman proposed a new item for possible consideration by the 
incoming Chairman and the new Committee in September 2019, subject to 
the views of Officers, and the avoidance of duplicating any work being 
undertaken by other Committees.

He expressed his concern that the development in the Town Centre and the 
growing number of amenities becoming available to residents, especially 
during the hours of Dartford’s night-time economy, provided sufficient 
infrastructure measures for disabled customers in terms of wheelchair access, 
and in terms of transportation arrangements particularly at night for disabled 
passengers especially those in wheelchairs. 

The Strategic Director (External Services) undertook to consider the proposal 
and advise the incoming Committee at its initial meeting in the new municipal 
year [18 June 2019].

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the report and the rolling Work Plan for the 
Committee as set out in Appendix A attached to the report;

2. That Members consider any proposed additions to the Work Plan in 
light of Officer advice, at its next meeting.  

49. CHAIRMAN'S VALEDICTORY 

In concluding his final meeting of the Policy Overview Committee the 
Chairman expressed his thanks to the Committee Co-ordinator (and his 
predecessor) for the support Member Services had provided throughout his 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2019

15

term in office. He recorded his particular thanks to the Vice-Chairman for her 
support during his chairmanship, and to the Strategic Director (External 
Services) and the Policy Manager for their guidance throughout, together with 
his thanks to all Officers who had presented reports to the Committee over the 
years.

He thanked Members of the Labour Group currently on the Committee (and 
their predecessor’s) for their constructive contribution to the many debates the 
Committee had held during his stewardship. He also expressed his thanks to 
all Members of his own Group on the Committee, with special thanks to the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Front Line Services, Customer Champion & 
Housing, whom he regarded as both the ‘Father’ of the Committee and of the 
Council Chamber. 

On a more general note, the Chairman confirmed that he would not be 
standing for re-election as a Councillor on 2 May, and he wished to take the 
opportunity to thank the Leader of the Council for appointing him as Chairman 
of the Policy Overview Committee over many years. He also wished to record 
his thanks to his fellow Ward Councillor for Wilmington the Chairman of the 
Development Control Board, for his support and guidance as a Dartford 
Member for more than two decades. That period had featured many highlights 
for the Chairman, but none greater than his year as Dartford’s Mayor during 
the 2011/12 municipal cycle.

In concluding his comments, the Chairman wished his successor as 
Chairman, and the in-coming Committee as a whole, all the very best for the 
future, and expressed his hope that the work of the Policy Overview 
Committee would continue to make a positive contribution to the lives of the 
residents of Dartford. 

The Vice-Chairman and all Members expressed their gratitude to the 
Chairman for his leadership of the Committee over many years, and wished 
him every success in the future.

The meeting closed at 9.15 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN





15 May 2019 - 30 September 2019

1 of 2

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Housing
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Youth Health & Wellbeing
Councillor S H Brown, Portfolio: Waste & Environment
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Finance
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Arts & Culture
Councillor R J Wells, Portfolio: Community Safety

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 2

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

Appropriation for planning purposes 
to be advertised post in principle 
decision by Cabinet.

Cabinet
13 Jun 2019

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
25 Jul 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of Council Tax

To consider writing-off Council Tax 
where it has not been possible to 
obtain payment because of 
insolvency, because the council tax 
payer cannot be traced or where the 
debt is otherwise irrecoverable. 

Cabinet
25 Jul 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 19 MARCH 2019

1. Summary

1.1  To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 
19 March 2019 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the next 
meeting for more detailed discussion.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting on 19 March 
2019, together with details of previous outstanding actions be noted;

2.2    That Members consider whether any item requires a report to be submitted to 
the next or subsequent meeting of the Committee for more detailed discussion.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. List of Action Points

No. Item Responsible Officer
1 Health Funding: On 11 September 2018 POC 

Members agreed the recommendation of the Strategic 
Director (External Services) based on discussions 
held with the DGS CCG; that rather than making 
further ad-hoc appeals to Central Government for an 
increased health funding provision for Dartford; the 
needs of the CCG and the D&G NHS Trust would be 
assessed by the Council through its review process of 
its current Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) with said 
documents made available to support any future bid 
for increased revenue funding by the CCG or NHS 
Trust. The subsequent report to Cabinet in December 
on the 2018 spending review of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL), recommended that an ‘in 
principle’ commitment be agreed to provide capital 
funding support for two new health hubs, in Dartford 
town centre and Stone. The level of funding for each 
to finalised through a business case for each project, 
subject to a report to Cabinet for final decision. Any 
other health projects identified for CIL funding would 
be subject to similar conditions [Cabinet Min. No. 84 
refers]. 

Teresa Ryszkowska / 
Sheri Green 

2 RELATE Medway & North Kent: In response to a 
request from the previous Chairman of POC, Mr. Dan 
McDonald, Chief Executive Officer for Relate Medway 
& North Kent (M&NK) had agreed to address 
Members on 18 June 2019 [Min. No. 36.3 refers]. 
Unfortunately, finalising that arrangement has not 

David Hook



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

proved possible in the interim. It is hoped that the 
proposal may be resuscitated in the future by the 
Vice-Chairman, as and when she attends meetings of 
RELATE as the Council’s nominated representative to 
that body.

3 Kent Public Health Service Update: Members 
resolved on 11 December 2018 [Min. No. 34 refers] 
that a letter be sent to the Chairman of KCC’s Health 
and Overview Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) from the 
Chairman of POC, requesting that consideration be 
given to increased funding to combat (the increase in) 
Type 2 diabetes amongst Dartford residents. In the 
absence of any response to that initial letter, a further 
letter was sent to the HOSC Chairman in April 2019 
which also awaits a response from KCC. 

David Hook

4 Dartford Preventative Health Projects (DPHP) 
Annual Report 2017/18: Health Inequalities Action 
Plan The report was presented to POC Members on 
11 December 2018 and confirmed inter-alia KCC 
funding for a new Health Inequalities programme for 
2018-19. It was also confirmed that the DPHP Annual 
Report for 2018-19 would be presented to the POC at 
their meeting in December 2019 [Min. No. 35 refers]. 
The Committee’s Work Plan has been updated 
accordingly.

Sheri Green

5 Welfare Reform Update: The SD (IS) and the Benefit 
Manager (Joint Service) will present a report to the 
Committee on 18 June 2019, focussing on the impact 
of the roll-out of full Universal Credit across the 
Borough [Min. No. 46.5 refers]. 

Sarah 
Martin/Heather 
Gaynor

6 Update from Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group: On 19 March 2019 
Members received an update from Gail Arnold Deputy 
Managing Director and Sue Brasher, Director of 
System Transformation from the DGS CCG  [Min. No. 
41 refers]. Members resolved to request a further 
update from DGS CCG representatives in March 
20120. The Committee’s Work Plan has been 
amended accordingly.  

7 Update from Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust: 
Members also received an update on 19 March 2019 
from Dr Steve Fenton, Medical Director of the D&G 
NHS Trust [Min. No. 41 refers] and resolved to receive 
a further update from a Trust representative in March 
2020. The Committee Work Plan has been amended 
accordingly.

David Hook

8 Presentation by Virgin Care Ltd: Ash Capel Q&E 
Lead and Lee Busher, Head of CSS (North Kent) 
Virgin Care Ltd. updated Members on 19 March 2019 
regarding the company’s service provision for Dartford 

David Hook



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

residents [Min. No. 41 refers]. Members resolved to 
invite Virgin Care Ltd representatives to update the 
Committee again in March 2020 as recorded in the 
2019/20 Work Plan.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrate improvements.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

19 March 2019 Agenda 
reports and Minutes 

David Hook
(01322) 343276

Democratic  
Services - 
Strategic Director 
(Internal)

N/A





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 June 2019

WELFARE REFORM UPDATE

1. Summary

1.1 To update Members on the impact of the roll-out of Universal Credit  Full  
Service across the Borough.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the information contained in the report be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

Universal Credit – National Position

3.1. Universal Credit (UC) is a new means-tested benefit which was first 
introduced in April 2013. The aim of UC was to simplify the existing 
welfare system and to provide one single benefit for people both in and 
out of work. UC replaces the 6 ‘legacy benefits’- Income Related 
Employment and Support Allowance, Income Based Jobseekers 
Allowance, Income Support, Housing Benefit (HB), Child Tax Credit and 
Working Tax Credit.

3.2. The roll-out of UC Full Service becoming operational in all parts of the 
United Kingdom was completed in December 2018. By March 2019, 
there were 1.8 million individuals receiving UC nationally, of which just 
over a third were in work. 

3.3. Transferral from the legacy benefit system to UC is currently by a 
process known as Natural Migration i.e. via new claims or a change in 
circumstance.

3.4. According to the January Welfare Trends Report produced by the Office 
for Budget Responsibility, the UC caseload is expected to reach 6.7 
million by 2022-23, with the vast majority coming from Natural Migration.

3.5. Managed Migration (the transfer of existing claimants whose 
circumstances have not changed from legacy benefit to UC), is planned 
to start in July 2019 and to end in March 2023.

3.6. The 2023 deadline still applies, despite the Secretary of State for Work 
and Pensions confirming in January 2019 that a pilot will start in July 
2019 initially. The pilot will test approaches to Managed Migration with 
10,000 claimants and its evaluation will precede a parliamentary vote 
before the full programme commences. 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 June 2019

3.7. The Government has introduced a number of changes to the UC Full 
Service over the past 18 months following concerns and criticism raised 
from many different areas including MPs, Social Landlords, Child 
Poverty Action Group. Listed below are the key concerns:

 January 2018 – Advance payments of up to 100% (previously 
50%) paid within 5 days of UC claim and to be repaid over 12 
months rather than 6 months.

 February 2018 - The 7 day waiting period has been removed, so 
payments will start from the date of claim rather than 7 days later. 
This has also cut down on the waiting time for a first payment of 
UC from 6 weeks to 5 weeks.

 April 2018 - Housing Benefit will continue for 2 weeks after the 
date UC is claimed, so for the first two weeks of the UC claim the 
customer will also receive HB.

 April 2018 – Where a customer has been placed in Temporary 
Accommodation by the Local Authority under the Homeless Act, 
1996, they will need to claim HB for their housing costs. 
Customers will still need to claim UC as well for their living costs.

 January 2019 - Customers who are receiving, or have recently 
been entitled to Severe Disability Premium (SDP), can no longer 
claim UC but have to claim HB.

 February 2019 - People with more than two children now have to 
claim UC instead of HB.

 April 2019 – Citizen Advice is now delivering ‘Help to claim’ 
previously known as Universal Support. This is where customers 
are supported in the early stages of their UC claim, from the online 
application, through to support with their application, before the 
first full payment.

3.8. In May 2019, the Government brought in a change to UC for mixed age 
couples (where one is pensionable age and one is not). From 15 May 
2019, mixed age couples who need to top up their income, can no longer 
claim Pension Credit & Housing Benefit, but UC instead.

3.9. There are still many concerns surrounding UC. A recent study by Policy 
in Practice for the Office of the Children’s Commissioner, published on 
11 May 2019, shows a dramatic increase in child vulnerability as a result 
of welfare reforms. The research shows that the introduction of UC, the 
two child limit to benefits and the Benefit Cap combined, has meant that 
the number of low-income families who are struggling to make ends 
meet has jumped from 13% to 25%. Further, the cumulative impact of 
welfare reforms is considerably greater than the impact of each reform 
in isolation, affecting 48% of households who lose £3,441 on average 
per year.

Universal Credit – Local Position



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 June 2019

3.10. The Borough is covered by 3 Jobcentres – Dartford, Gravesend and 
Bexleyheath. The majority of the Borough went onto UC Full Service on 
25 July 2018 with the remainder following on 24 October 2018. 

3.11. This means all working age customers who are on a low income or out 
of work and need help will need to apply for Universal Credit via the 
online application.

3.12. The exceptions to this are if the customer:

 Has reached State Pension age and if they have a partner who 
has also reached State Pension age. In this case they still need 
to apply for Housing Benefit;

 Is currently in receipt of Severe Disability Premium, they still need 
to apply for Housing Benefit; 

 Lives in supported accommodation e.g. where extra support and 
sometimes care services are needed, the customer must claim 
UC for their living costs and HB for their housing costs;

 Are in temporary accommodation placed by the Council’s 
Housing Options Team, the customer must claim UC for their 
living costs and HB for their housing costs.

3.13. By March 2019, there were 2,190 individuals receiving UC in the 
Borough, of which just over a third were in work.

3.14. The impact on the Benefits Service since UC Full Service went live, has 
been a change in the type of work rather than a reduction in work overall: 
 

 The number of new HB claims from working age customers have 
reduced. In April 2018 there were 3,737 working age claimants 
but this has reduced to 2,881 in May 2019;

 The Benefits Service continue to administer the HB working age 
caseload but this is also reducing due to customers’ changes in 
circumstances putting them onto UC;

 The DWP records received have increased by 52% as a result of 
UC Full Service. The quality of notifications are of a poor standard 
and staff are increasingly being utilised as ‘paper sorters’ to 
manage and administer these notifications;

 The Benefits Service continue to administer the working age 
Local Council Tax Reduction scheme;

 The Discretionary Housing Payments for housing costs during 
2018 compared to 2017 have increased by 20%, but there is a 
fundamental problem with requests for rent-in-advance 
payments. This is because rent-in-advance payments cannot be 
awarded until housing costs in UC are paid, whilst on the flip side 
housing costs cannot be paid until a property is occupied;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 June 2019

 The Benefits Service continue to administer the Pension age 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction cases.

3.15. The Benefits Service continue to work very closely with the key 
stakeholders, including Housing and DWP Partnership Managers. This 
includes attending monthly meetings which is contributing to meaningful 
dialogue and effective planning. The Benefits Service have provided 
training around Housing Benefit and UC to many organisations, 
including the Council’s housing officers, over the last year. Later this 
month the team will be training the staff at both the Dartford and 
Gravesend Jobcentres on different types of tenancies, contrived 
tenancies and Discretionary Housing Payments.

3.16. Citizen Advice, in Dartford Jobcentre, provides assistance to customers 
who need help with making an online UC application.

3.17. The Council’s Local Council Tax Reduction (CTR) scheme for working 
age claimants changed in April 2019, to cope with the frequent 
recalculation of UC where a claim is in payment. Introducing a banded 
scheme has alleviated the need to recalculate a CTR claim every time 
a change in UC is notified.

Welfare Reforms affecting Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction

3.17. The majority of welfare reform has now been introduced and there are 
no other major changes on the horizon that are likely to have a direct 
impact on HB or CTR. The welfare reform agenda is widely expected to 
wind down as 2020 approaches, although small tweaks may be made 
in response to changing economic forecasts or the impact of events 
such as Brexit.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial 
Implications

See risk assessment

Legal Implications None 

Staffing 
Implications

None

Administrative Minimal at present



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 June 2019

Implications

Risk Assessment Affected residents may experience a reduction 
in their household income. With less disposable 
income, this may result in some residents 
finding it more difficult to pay their rent and their 
council tax. The following will help mitigate this 
impact:

 The Discretionary Housing Payment 
Scheme (Housing Benefit)

 The Exceptional Hardship Scheme 
(Council Tax Reduction)

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Heather Gaynor
Benefits Manager
(01732) 227435

Revenues 
and 
Benefits 

Internal 
Services

N/A





CABINET
13 JUNE 2019

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 4 of 2018/19.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 
the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the fourth quarter of 
2018/19.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report.



CABINET
13 JUNE 2019

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate 
Support

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q4 2018/19
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q4 Update

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Demolition of the Bellway-owned part of the site well-progressed. Reserved matters 
application for Phase 3B approved. Revised application for Phase 2 to be submitted. 
Site proposed to be developed within 2 years. Planning application for the Vauxhall 
Farm site (southern end of Lowfield St) awaiting determination.  

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site Ongoing discussions are taking place with the developer. The planning application is 
expected late 2019.

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

Works on Market St to commence on 20 May and to last for 9 months. High St 
scheme currently being developed and will follow on from this. Consultant has been 
appointed for Phase 2 of the project covering junctions at Lowfield St/Instone Rd, 
Instone Rd/Highfield Rd, Highfield Rd/West Hill, Home Gardens/East Hill and Hythe 
St/Westgate Rd. Works on this phase to commence in February 2020. Phase 3 of the 
project is the improvement of Hythe St. Design of the scheme will commence in July 
2019.  

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

Works on Market St to commence on 20 May and last for 9 months.  

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

1,088 homes delivered in Dartford part of EDC area to April 2019. A further 6,436 
homes have outline or reserved matters consent, 5,511 at Eastern Quarry, 602 at 
Ebbsfleet Green, 103 at Craylands Lane and 220 at the Croxton and Garry site. 
There is also an outline planning consent for up to 2,320 homes at Ebbfleet Central - 
this is likely to be revisited.  

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments

Eastern route out of Ingress Park now operational, providing full access to the service 
through the development. Funding secured for Fastrack tunnel link to Bluewater. Link 
from Ebbsfleet, through Eastern Quarry to Bluewater to open in September 2021. 
London Rd/St Clements Way new dedicated Fastrack lane completed Spring 2019. 
A Fastrack Advisory Board has been set up with a view to supporting the ongoing 
improvement and delivery of the Fastrack service.  



2

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Contractor appointed and demolition work commenced. Contractor’s detailed design 
proposals for bridges are being developed. River design now completed and 
permissions being sought. Works to Darenth Suite well under way.

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford

We are building a new website for the Dartford Business Awards which will better link 
with businesses locating to the area.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition We are currently planning the 3rd Dartford Business Awards for September 2019.

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

We continue to work with Planning to support the implementation of the town centre 
regeneration works. Through Town Centre Management we are delivering a wide 
range of projects, events and the Thursday and Saturday markets. We are helping 
planning to implement the Market Street works programme.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q4 Update
Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

Works continuing on site; car park and 3G pitch complete apart from final surfacing. 
Building brickwork and internal/external framing ongoing. Final contractor’s proposals 
for M&E being developed.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 4, 22 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 204. 
Attendees were 79.

There are currently 7 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 4, 85 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 856. Attendees were 159. There were 
20 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough. In quarter 4, 35 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 395. 
Attendees were 159.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 30+. In quarter 4, 25 people engaged on the programme. 22 
people completed the course and 4 of these achieved a weight loss of >5%.

Don’t Sit Get Fit consists of providing support to targeted schools throughout the year 



3

in relation to the Health Weight Agenda. The new Pilot programme will work in 
partnership with KCHFT and Public Health School nursing team and started in 
quarter 4 with a total of 17 families signed up.

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. In quarter 4, 
there were 4 organisations that worked on this programme. The number of 
businesses that have set 3 pledges for small changes, including the number of those 
defined as Routine and Manual and Micro Businesses = 4. The number of businesses 
that have completed a policy review to embed workplace health, including number of 
those defined as Routine and Manual and Micro Businesses = 1.

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

In quarter 4, there were 2 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme, 
totalling £4,385. The next Community Grant Scheme will be available later on in the 
year.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer The strong working relationship continues with consultants engaged to look at the 
feasibility of the expansion of Fairfield car park.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

The annual Adult Summer Exhibition is taking place at the Sir Peter Blake Gallery. 
This will be followed by the Children’s Summer Exhibition. The Council continues to 
wait for the outcome of a joint bid, with Gravesham and the EDC, for a major arts 
programme across the area.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year

The St Georges Day event was extremely successful, involving over 500 school 
children. The arrangements for Dartford Festival are in hand, with all of the acts under 
contract. The Cinema in the Park events are now sold out, despite extra tickets being 
made available and tickets are selling fast for the three Theatre in the Park events.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments

Ongoing provision of new green spaces as part of build out of major sites, including 
Eastern Quarry, Ebbsfleet Green, The Bridge, St Clements Lakes, Northern Gateway 
East and Mill Pond. Laying out of open space as children’s play area at top end of 
Phoenix Quarter (Temple Hill Road) has been agreed with developer and work is now 
to commence. Stone Lodge to provide improved and more useable green space. 
Further green space provision will be planned as new planning applications come 
forward.  



4

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

Following the CCG’c unsuccessful bid to NHS England, discussions have been taking 
place to determine alternative funding options and a bid has now been submitted to 
the Future High Streets Fund.

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q4 Update
Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect. In the year 2018/19, 316 Community Protection Warning letters were issued 
and 67 Community Protection Notices were issued.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards reducing ASB. Community Protection Warning letters are still 
being used to ban trouble makers and shoplifters from the town centre.

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety

All food hygiene inspections are carried out according to national guidelines. This 
year all high risk food safety inspections have been carried out. The lower risk 
inspections have increased throughout the year resulting in delays in some premises 
getting their routine visits. In accordance with national guidance we do not carry out 
routine health and safety inspections, however, we respond to intelligence if it is sent 
to us and act accordingly.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The excellent relationship with DBC licensing officers and Kent Police continues to 
flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint advice and 
enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been very 
innovative and ground breaking training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi 
and private hire drivers which has stimulated interest from other councils across the 
country.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

DBC licensing have consolidated the innovative, unique trend in introducing a series 
of workshops in partnership with Kent Fire and Rescue and Kent Police. This involves 
bespoke training in safeguarding, counter terrorism, relevant legislation and road 
safety measures. The scheme is ground breaking and still proving to be very 
successful.



5

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce ASB 
particularly excess drinking in public places. The new DTAC Intelligence Manager 
was recruited in April 2019.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q4 Update
Procure a new waste collection contract New contractor (Urbaser) takes over from Amey on 1 July 2019.

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security to act as our enforcement 
capability for litter and dog fouling in January 2016. Since then and up until the end of 
March 2019, 9,980 fixed penalty notices (FPN) have been issued to offenders in the 
borough.

DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of 
very few LA’s within Kent to have introduced this. Up until 31 March 2019 there have 
been 645 prosecutions/positive outcomes for minor fly tips served by DBC 
Enforcement Officers (not Kingdom).

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented Volunteer litter picking scheme is now up and running.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity

East of Gravesend option (Option C) has been selected. Detailed design and 
mitigations now being undertaken. Development Consent Order to be submitted late 
2019. Expected completion date 2027.  

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Completed.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national Air Quality continues to be monitored in accordance with national requirements. As 



6

requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

consultees in the planning process we attempt to influence construction to minimise 
the impact on Air Quality.

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q4 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the Borough for 2017/18. Council 
new build programme progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 2 of the 
Council new build programme close to being finalised for approval.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 Delivery target achieved.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

First primary school opened on Eastern Quarry at Castle Hill. Proposals for 
secondary school and primary school at Alkerden, Eastern Quarry being progressed. 
Proposals for a primary school at Ebbsfleet Green being progressed. 
Planning application for primary school on Northern Gateway (Central Rd) approved. 
Opening of temporary school programmed for Sept 2019 with permanent school in 
Sept 2020. 
Stone Lodge outline application incorporating secondary school approved subject to 
S106. Application for temporary school programmed to open in Sept 2019 under 
consideration. 
Plans are being progressed for health hub on former Co-op site as part of Muse 
development of the site. Potential sites for a health hub at Stone being explored. 
Discussions with landowner to enable provision of a primary school on the St James 
Lane pit site in Stone ongoing.  

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

In quarter 4, there were 2 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme, 
totalling £4,385. The next Community Grant Scheme will be available later on in the 
year.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light

The St Georges Day event was extremely successful, involving over 500 school 
children. The arrangements for Dartford Festival are in hand, with all of the acts under 
contract. The Cinema in the Park events are now sold out, despite extra tickets being 



7

made available and tickets are selling fast for the three Theatre in the Park events.
Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

Owing to changes in the way in which funding is provided by the HLA, the Council 
may need to look again at the future development of the Museum.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote

The Register of Electors is continuing to increase in size following the Annual 
Canvass.  The Register was republished, taking into account the new Wards and 
Polling Districts, as part of the preparations for the Local Elections that took place in 
May 2019.

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q4 Update

Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

The Channel Shift programme continues to make progress. Online houses in multiple 
occupation (HMOs) licensing has recently been launched with online alcohol licensing 
in progress.

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council Agile working has been extended to key posts.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget Budget process completed for 2019/20.

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs

2017/18 element of programme delivered on time and within budget. 2018/19 
programme has commenced.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

Completed in terms of 2018/19 pilot. Unfortunately the 2019/20 Pilot Bid was 
unsuccessful.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

This is now complete, with the new warding arrangements taking effect from the May 
2019 elections.

 





1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q4 2018/19
Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy 
income £2,061,024 £794,057 £704,513    £181,170 £315,750 £873,971 £2,075,404  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has 
been applied to eligible development since April 
2014. During quarter 4 of 2018/19 twelve 
payments have been made. Some of these are 
instalment payments with further instalments to 
be paid during 2019/20. Payments can rise or fall 
from quarter to quarter, as CIL is only triggered 
upon commencement of consented development. 
15% of the revenue generated from CIL liable 
developments in a local area, will be passed to 
town/parish councils and applied to projects in 
local neighbourhoods, and a further proportion of 
the total CIL revenue will be used for 
administrative costs. In December 2018 Cabinet 
resolved that no CIL allocations would be made 
during the financial year 2019/20 due to identified 
potential infrastructure project plans not being 
sufficiently advanced or other funding streams 
being identified. However, it agreed that in 
principle, CIL monies may be applied to 2 health 
infrastructure projects which are currently being 
progressed by partners.



2

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Overall business birth rate 740 660 Not measured for Quarters N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to new 
business registrations as business births. Latest 
available figures show that there were 660 
business births in 2017 which is down 10.81% 
from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC 
area), the business birth rate in 2017 was 7,895. 
This is an annual indicator and the next update 
for 2018 is due at the end of November 2019.

Overall business death rate 495 640 Not measured for Quarters N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to 
businesses that have ceased to trade (identified 
through de-registration of the administrative units, 
that is, VAT and PAYE) as business deaths. 
Latest available figures show that there were 640 
business deaths in 2017, which is up 29.29% 
from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC 
area), the business death rate in 2017 was 7,620. 
This is an annual indicator and the next update is 
due at the end of November 2019.

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.3% 1.1% 1.1% 1.4% 1.7% 1.7%  

There were 1,145 unemployed people in the 
Borough in March 2019, which represents an 
unemployment rate of 1.7%. This has increased 
by 5.5% since the previous month (60 more 
unemployed people in March than in February), 
and has increased by 35.5% from the same time 
last year (300 more unemployed people in March 
2019 than in March 2018). In Kent overall (KCC 
area), the unemployment rate in March 2019 was 
2.4%.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for Quarters 1,010  

Another year of strong house delivery across the 
Borough, which is expected to continue over 
2019/20, taking into account the number of 
homes under construction in April 2019. Delivery 
at Ebbsfleet Garden City represented 13% of the 
overall figure. The proportion of housing delivered 
in Ebbsfleet Garden City is expected to rise in 
future years, as delivery levels at other sites 
across the Borough decrease, due to many of 
them of them reaching completion or final phases 
of development.



3

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 2
018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Total Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 504,916 132,174 133,431 117,011 143,947 526,563  

Fairfield’s third full year of operation under Places 
Leisure has shown continued popularity of the 
centre with visits ever increasing on past year 
figures. Centre capacities are very high with new 
activities and opportunities to expand the service 
offering becoming more limited. This is driven by 
the overall positive view on the standard of 
facilities and developments implemented since 
the 2016 reopening.         

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Park Run 
Users

146 161 168 364 265 268 266  Central Park = 173 average weekly runners.
Dartford Heath = 95 average weekly runners.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Junior Park 
Run Users

37 35 39 50 38 38 41  
There has been a small increase in the number of 
participants compared to the same quarter in 
2017/18.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Princes Park Mini Pitch Users 179 191 38 34 45 42 159  

Income for this quarter is slightly up compared to 
this quarter last year due to the weather being 
much better and no snow affecting training 
sessions. There are a couple of more longer term 
bookings compared to last year where it was 
more week by week with some teams.

Number of local groups 
supported through Community 
Grant and other grant schemes

34 38 4 5 22 9 40  

In quarter 4 there were 7 grants awarded under 
the DBC Community Fund. 2 organisations were 
awarded grants under the Salute to Youth 
Scheme. The next Community Grant Scheme will 
be available later on this year.

Percentage attendance at the 
Orchard Theatre (% of total seats 
available which are used)

61.33% 59.42% 64% 54% 66% 64% 62%  

The prior year’s footfall was higher by 5,000 ticket 
sales due to having four more performances than 
this year’s quarter 4. This quarter highlights were 
The Band and Benidorm the Musical which sold 
over 6,500 each week, similar figures last year for 
shows with Cilla the Musical selling 5,600 and 
Crazy For You 4,600.



4

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for Quarters N/A  

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 9.1 years lower for men in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least 
deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life 
expectancy is 7.8 years lower for men. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due in 
July 2019.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for Quarters N/A  

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women in the 
most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least 
deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life 
expectancy is 4.7 years lower for women. This is 
an annual indicator and the next update is due in 
July 2019.

Percentage of obese children in 
Year 6 21.9% 22.2% Not measured for Quarters N/A  

Latest available figures for 2017/18 show that 
22.2% of children in Year 6 (10-11 year olds) 
were classified as obese in the Borough. This is 
higher than the previous year where 21.9% of 
children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In 
Kent overall (KCC area) for 2017/18, the figure is 
18.8%. This is an annual indicator and the next 
update is due in 2020.

Percentage of adults achieving at 
least 150 minutes of physical 
exercise per week

63.9% 71.5% Not measured for Quarters N/A  

Latest available figures for 2017/18 show that 
71.5% of adults were physically active in the 
Borough. This is up from the 2016/17 figure of 
63.9%. This indicator is defined as the 
percentage of adults (aged 19+) that meet Chief 
Medical Officer recommendations for physical 
activity (150+ moderate intensity equivalent 
minutes per week).



5

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated 
by CCTV this month 72 78 27 17 19 13 76  Outcomes remain stable.

Total number of arrests 
supported by CCTV this month 59 58 21 12 27 21 81  Outcomes remain stable.

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime 
(DTAC)

104 116 100 83 83 83 83  

There has been some new take up from 
businesses but the overall figure remains reduced 
due to business closures and financial constraints 
on some SME's. This remains a challenge. The 
new DTAC Intelligence Manager started in April 
2019. 

Number of Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) interventions 
against persistent offenders

22 14 3 3 3 1 10  

We are continuing to use Community Protection 
Warnings (CPW) instead of DTAC exclusions 
which are non-enforceable. This is proving to be 
a far better and more strategic approach which 
has a legislative framework to support it. 

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 379 50 136 108 49 343  This continues to be a highly effective tool in 

tackling ASB across the district.

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 46 13 32 18 5 68  

The lower numbers of CPN's (against CPW's) 
reflects the effectiveness of Community 
Protection Warnings.

Number of Public Space 
Protection Order Enforcement 
Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 0 1 0 0 0 1  

The performance reflects the vulnerability of the 
enforcement principally laying with another 
agency (Police).

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18

N/A 27 3 3 0 0 6

Whilst the CSU work closely with the Police in 
identifying when the use of an ABA is 
appropriate, it remains an exclusively Police task 
to decide to proceed, issue and then monitor the 
agreement. The Council use Community 
Protection Warnings and Notices to respond to 
the types of behaviour that an ABA tackles, but 
these are limited to those over the age of 18. 
ABA's tend to be aimed at those under 18 years.



6

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19
Q4 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Percentage of High risk 
(categories A & B) food hygiene 
inspections due and completed 
(cumulative)

100% 100% 100% 50% 100% 100% 100% 100% All high risk food premises have been inspected 
as scheduled.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour incidents in the 
Borough by the Police

2,982 2,135 461 526 357 406 1,750  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home 
Office crime counting rules, (effectively making 
year on year comparisons impossible) this will no 
longer be reported on via Pentana. The difference 
between crimes reported to the Police and 
statistics gathered by the British Crime survey are 
markedly different.  A full explanation has been 
submitted to both the DBC Community Safety 
Partnership and Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

The average results of Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels from all automatic 
air quality monitoring stations in 
the Borough (micrograms per m2)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 43.1 33.1 38.6 44.2 44.9 40.2  Air temperature and climatic conditions create 

increase in levels from the summer.

Number of households taking part 
in energy efficiency initiatives in 
the Borough

571 241 60 108 124 58 350  Very positive outcome - well up on last years out 
turn.

Number of households taking part 
in green bin (garden waste) 6,141 5,740 5,881 6,043 6,066 6,055 6,011 6,000 Target has been slightly exceeded but will aim to 

add more when new contractor takes over.



7

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19
Q4 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

service

Number of fly tipping incidents 159 2,560 835 653 470 712 2,670 Number of incidents per month fluctuates but still 
remains high.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 58 14 11 21 18 64 Number of reported incidents per month remains 
very low.

Percentage of household waste 
going to landfill 1.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%  Amount of DBC waste being sent to landfill is 

very low.

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the housing 
register 1,064 1,134 1,137 1,106 854 785 785  The number is slightly down following verification 

checks.

No of households living in 
temporary accommodation 107 108 93 82 64 69 69  

The number of families placed in temporary 
accommodation is down significantly when 
compared to previous years. This is due to the 
team’s successful implementation of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act and the number of 
homeless prevention actions delivered.

Number of households where 
homelessness has been 
prevented

50 78 61 53 84 17 215  

A very positive outcome as we come to the end of 
the first year of the Homelessness Reduction Act. 
More homeless preventions has a positive knock 
on effect on temporary accommodation 
placements.

Number of service requests 
completed for Private Sector 
Housing

429 234 85 63 71 94 313 250

More service requests have been dealt with this 
year than last which is a positive in terms of the 
amount of probate sector properties that the team 
have been able to ensure are in good condition 
and tenancies sustained.

Percentage of repairs completed 
in time 90.92% 87.62% 91.79% 96.46% 90.49% 87.51% 91.40% 98.00% Annual target shows improvement on last year.



8

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19
Q4 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar 
days) (EXCL major works)

20.41 21.02 24.35 24.4 19.36 25.01 23.58 20

Disappointing end of year figure largely due to the 
unprecedented amount of voids that required 
extensive works encountered in the last half of 
2018/19, far above experience in previous years. 
Void rent loss however was within target.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable homes 
delivered (gross) 239 173 52 46 75 30 203 140 Annual target has been exceeded which is a 

positive outcome.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for Quarters 1,010  

Another year of strong house delivery across the 
Borough, which is expected to continue over 
2019/20, taking into account the number of 
homes under construction in April 2019. Delivery 
at Ebbsfleet Garden City represented 13% of the 
overall figure. The proportion of housing delivered 
in Ebbsfleet Garden City is expected to rise in 
future year, as delivery levels at other sites 
across the Borough decrease, due to many of 
them of them reaching completion or final phases 
of development.

Number of service requests 
raised for Private Sector Housing

New indicator 
for 2017/18 272 78 100 83 77 338 Service requests are up significantly on last year.

No of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned into 
occupation or demolished

101 100 20 19 40 21 100 100 The annual target has been achieved.



9

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19

Q4 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business 
Rates collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 98.9% 32.0% 57.4% 83.5% 99.3% 99.3% 98.9%

This percentage represents the amount collected 
net of refunds as a percentage of the net 
collectible debit.  This is compared to the 
percentage achieved the previous year.

The figure reported to Government in the QRC 
return is calculated differently and the final 
percentage is net of credits on the system. The 
final figure is usually lower due to the level of 
credits that are created at the end of the year but 
cannot be refunded.  The final QRC figure is 
98.57%.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 97% 29.2% 56.5% 84% 96.8% 96.8% 96.9%

This percentage represents the amount collected 
net of refunds as a percentage of the net 
collectible debit.

The figure reported to Government in the QRC 
return is calculated differently and the final 
percentage may be higher or lower.  The final 
QRC figure is 96.92%.

Average time taken to process a 
new claim for Housing Benefit 
(cumulative)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 22 28 26 25 23 23 23

Extra agency staff taken on in quarter 4, to help 
whilst we have been recruiting into vacancies, 
has meant we have met our quarter 4 and yearly 
target.

Percentage of supplier payments 
made within 30 days of receipt of 
invoice

99.02% 99.35% 99.01% 99% 99.68% 98.84% 99.18% Target achieved. Low numbers of late payments 
throughout the year.

Rent Collection and Arrears 
Recovery - rents collected as a 
proportion of rents owed

97.67% 97.8% 91.9% 95.36% 97.13% 97.29% 97.29% 98.1%
Positive outcome for the year despite the 
challenges faced and the changes to the welfare 
system.

Number of phone calls received 
by the Council 577,329 518,358 134,073 129,695 115,933 122,540 502,241

Overall and year on year, the volume of calls 
received into the Council continue to reduce.  
This is a result of improved customer 



10

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19
Q4 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

management and increased self-serve & channel 
shift options available through DBC website.     

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to short term (<4 
weeks) illness per employee

4.39 3.18 1.08 1.04 1.46 1.11 4.69 4
Annual short term sickness rate slightly higher 
than target. Wellbeing work to try and reduce 
absence continues.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to long term (>4 
weeks) illness per employee

2.38 3.15 2.1 1.69 1.14 1.38 6.31 4.02
Annual long term sickness rate higher than target. 
Wellbeing work to try and reduce absence 
continues.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 829,677 226,842 249,098 213,795 206,247 895,982  The number of visits to DBC's website is in line 
with usual levels.

 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
Tuesday 18 June 2019

COMMITTEE’S ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019

Please note, this item will be “To Follow”





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE PROTOCOL

1. Summary

1.1 This report presents the Policy Overview Committee’s Protocol, which sets out 
the procedures that the Committee should follow to operate effectively.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Protocol for the Policy Overview Committee (attached at Appendix A 
to this report), be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The General Assembly of the Council, at its Annual Meeting on 22 May 
2019 agreed the general Terms of Reference for all Committees, 
including the Policy Overview Committee.

3.2. The detailed procedures that the Policy Overview Committee must 
follow, to work effectively, are set out in the Committee’s Protocol 
attached as Appendix A to this report, for Members’ information. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The overview and scrutiny process increases local democratic accountability 
and visibility of key local public services and partners.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A: Policy Overview Committee Protocol (June 2019)



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

4 June 
2019

David Hook
(01322) 343276

Democratic 
Services / Strategic 
Director (Internal 
Services)

N/A



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO1

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE PROTOCOL 

Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 
and responsibilities, the overview role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities.

Terms of Reference To assist the Cabinet with policy review and development with the ultimate 
aim of improving the delivery of services to local people.

To work with partner organisations for the benefit of the community as a 
whole and from time to time to examine matters which are not the 
responsibility of the Council e.g. health care provision in the Borough.

To review the impact of decisions and policy.

Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the 
Council (the GAC);

(b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
(c) Codes of Conduct;
(d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time.

Committee 
accountability

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority.

Elected Member 
accountability

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the Council's 
functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to ensure that the 
Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act unlawfully.

Compliance 
principles

The Committee will:
 Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of the Strategic 

and Policy Framework;
 Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 

operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp the 
power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC;

 Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council;

 Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) on 
technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit;

 Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name;



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO2

 Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive review activities.

Membership Committee membership may include no more than one Cabinet member.

The Overview Process 

The review of any matter:

(a) relating to the provision of and/or delivery of  Council services to the local community;

(b) in which the Council has an interest, subject to the Council being in a position to reasonably 
influence the outcome for the benefit of the local community;

(c) which has an adverse impact on the delivery of Council services,

but excluding crime and disorder related matters.

1.What may be 
reviewed

1.1 Council policy development and budgetary framework [on the request of the 
GAC or Cabinet];

1.2 local improvement targets (other than crime and disorder); 

1.3 decisions/actions of key local public service providers;

1.4 performance of the Council  in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas;

1.5 the planning, provision, operation and performance of public 
bodies/organisations  including local health services, subject to the Council 
being in a position to reasonably influence the outcome for the benefit of the 
local community;

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of reviewing decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the review of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation

A.1 For each meeting of the Committee:

 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council;

 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council;

 through the Chairman of the Committee. one item only for any other 
Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served 
basis’.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO3

A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 
down for review purposes, no more than five items in total.  These five items 
may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a review of 
decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, local improvement targets, health 
service body etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the Committee is 
restricted to the review of five items in total, per Committee meeting.

 A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 
later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear 
days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on 
which the meeting is held).

(b) The need (if any) for participants to appear before the Committee will be 
notified to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

A.4 Where the Committee wishes to review an item for the purposes of examining 
the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post implementation, 
drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future date. 

NB: The focus of the review in such circumstances will be concerned with 
the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any background 
document before the Committee.

A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance with 
section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion of the 
item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right of the 
Political Groups to sum up.

A.6

A.7

Although the Policy Overview Committee and Scrutiny Committee have 
different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Policy Overview 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs. 

The Managing Director, in consultation with the Strategic Director (External 
Services), will make the final decision on the rejection of a draw down, with 
reasons recorded in writing.  In the absence of either the Managing Director 
or Strategic Director (External Services), the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) will be consulted by the other.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO4

B. Requests for 
information
B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written notice 

to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will:

 detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s);

 the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 
information, research, data, statistics, etc.;

 if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely topics 
to be raised on the item(s);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the purposes 
of putting questions to participants.

B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will as appropriate, 
notify the Managing Director and link officer of the partner organisation.  
Where the request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the 
Managing Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly. 

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or 
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period, 
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any 
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the 
day on which the meeting is held).  

B.4 Information will be depersonalised or redacted, unless the identification of an 
individual is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to 
properly exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data 
Protection Act 2018.  

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc.

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach of 
confidence actionable by any person.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO5

B.7

B.8

B.9

Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972, as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential 
information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee.

The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly.

To facilitate the overview process, a partner authority (as defined in Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (as amended)) is under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the 
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012).  

C. Health Service 
Review

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor have 
the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended);

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local Healthwatch 
contractor;

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006.

C.1 The Committee may review any matter relating to the planning, provision and 
operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.21(1) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013).

C.2 When reviewing the planning, provision and operation of the health service, 
the Committee must:

 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013) and
 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, relevant 

information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 
must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer informed 
of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

C.3 The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO6

C.4

C.5

C.6

C.7

C.8

C.9

The nature of the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic under 
review will generally determine who participates in the proceedings of the 
Committee.

Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this Protocol, 
the Committee may require the attendance of any member or employee of a 
Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to answer questions 
(reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 
include:
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed;
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed.

Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the request 
(reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to the 
health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section C.5 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013).



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO7

D. Participants

D.1 The nature of the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic under 
review will generally determine who participates in the proceedings of the 
Committee.

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the giving 
of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided as to 
the nature and scope of the review:

Cabinet members and Council Officers

Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend Committee 
meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or answer questions 
((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000).

Health Service review

A representative or employee of the Responsible Person may be required to 
attend Committee meetings to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions in accordance with section C.4 of this Protocol.

D.3 Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence. 

Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact.

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors 

The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the 
development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and assessors to 
assist the Committee in the process.

D.5

D.5A

Councillors who are not members of the Committee 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the Committee.

Lead Members

Subject to sections D.7(a) and S.6 of this Protocol, Lead Members may be 
requested (but cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on their respective portfolios. 

D.6 The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of a 
participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these circumstances, 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO8

Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman accordingly.

D.7 Participation Rules

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the discretion 
of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer participants, within the 
discretion of the Managing Director.

(b) Subject to para.(a) of this section D.7 and section S.6 of this Protocol, 
any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee and with the 
consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer questions or 
give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant portfolio.

(c) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers to 
above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure that 
junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction is 
consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights.

(d) The Chairman or Vice-Chairman and Shadow Chairman (or nominee in 
the Shadow Chairman’s absence) (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or Managing 
Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the attendance of a named 
Cabinet member/Lead Member(s) and Council Officer(s), and 
representative of a Responsible Person, or relevant body as participants 
in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written notice to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the Committee 
meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held).

(e) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
investigation will not be called as participants.

(f) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the Compliance 
Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(g) and (h) below.  
Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of their particular 
issues.

(g) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that the 
question may be answered in private session.

(h) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would be 
entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any question 
relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not be 
answered without acknowledging or referring to possible inappropriate 
conduct/actions/inactions.

(i) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 
their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 
that evidence.

(j) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO9

circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee.

(k) Participants may be asked to explain:

(i) what the policies are;

(ii) the justification and objectives of those policies;

(iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met;

(iv)how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 
policy measures and the manner of their implementation.

(l) Participants may be asked explain and justify;

 advice they have given prior to decisions being taken;

 decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 
Cabinet etc.

NB: As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 
discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies 
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for Officers 
to be politically neutral.

E. Committee member 
business

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A of this Protocol, any 
Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 21A(1) 
Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the Committee’s 
functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving written notice 
to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before a 
Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held).  

The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply. 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO10

F. The duty to have 
regard to reports/
recommendations

F.1
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee may 
recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made it. 

F.2
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee.

F.3
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond to 
its Overview Report and/or recommendations in accordance with section C.5 
of this Protocol.

G. Regulatory bodies

G.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 
development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet.

G.2 The Committee will not review individual decisions made by the Committees, 
Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s regulatory functions 
(the Regulatory Bodies).  Review of decisions of Regulatory Bodies is clearly 
not an alternative to normal appeals procedures.  However, the Committee 
may make reports and/or recommendations to the GAC relating to the 
discharge of any Regulatory Body’s functions.

G.3 Review of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted to 
one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman.  The 
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply. 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO11

H. Work programme

H.1
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are not 
members of the largest political group on the Council.

H.2
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided.

H.3
The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes.

H.4
The Committee will respond as soon as its work programme permits to 
requests from the GAC and/or the Cabinet to review particular areas of 
Council activity.  Such requests/referrals may include a policy review study 
before the Cabinet formulates its policies for submission to the GAC for 
approval.  Reviews on the grounds of priority or emergency (example an 
announcement during the course of the municipal year or government policy 
or other initiative requiring early attention) may also be the subject of a 
referral from the GAC and/or the Cabinet.

H.5
In referring items for consideration by the Committee, the GAC and/or the 
Cabinet will identify the philosophy/reasoning behind the referral and will 
endeavour to provide the Committee with all relevant information on the 
subject matter under review.

J. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors

J.1
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may invite 
independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the overview 
process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups. Independent 
experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights.  These persons 
will be regarded as invitees only and will not count for the purposes of 
establishing a quorum.

J.2 The criteria for selection will be;

(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 
knowledge of the subject in question;

(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 
be seen as prejudicial to their independence;

(c) (c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 
contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee, 
officer or member of the Responsible Person.

J.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply with 
the principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality.

J.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses.

J.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO12

J.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia:
 the corporate approach of the Council;
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations;
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice;
 vires and propriety of expenditure;
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports).

NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure.

K. Overview reports 
and/or 
recommendations

K.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the local Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and the 
Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports.

K.2 The Overview Report will include:
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed;
(b) a summary of the evidence considered;
(c) a list of the participants involved in the review exercise;
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations;

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s);

(f) the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s).

K.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 
be detailed in the Overview Report.

K.4 The Overview Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body.

K.5 Where the Committee requests a response, the ‘relevant body’ is under an 
obligation to consider the Overview Report and/or recommendations and 
respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as soon as reasonably possible) 
of the date of the Overview Report, in accordance with F. of this Protocol.

K.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of a ‘relevant body’, attend its 
meeting and present the Overview Report and answer questions.

K.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) who 
expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, refer a 
'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and provided 
they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the 
matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to attend the 
body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.  



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO13

K.8 If at all possible, Overview Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ within 
a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the Overview 
Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the Committee's 
Overview Report/recommendations will be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s 
agenda.

K.9 Only one Overview Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration.

K.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant body' 
either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the case may 
be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that the 
Committee considers that no further action is necessary.

K.11 Overview Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 
Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider an Overview Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment.

K.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates. 

L. Monitoring Officer 
reports 

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet.

M. Consideration of 
items at meetings
M.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 

consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and including 
(iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in accordance with 
Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of:

 decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet, Officers and local 
health service bodies i.e. NHS Foundation trust etc.;

 local health service related issues;



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO14

 MAA economic strategy action plans;

 Draw downs;

 Key Decisions;

 any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 
functions;

 Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters);

 Minority member business;

 Policy Overview Committee member business;

 Monitoring progress of agreed actions;

 Members’ Information Bulletin. 

M.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b).

M.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 (Delegation 
of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of Delegations to 
Officers, cannot be reversed or amended.

M.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential 
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s) 
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)).

M.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards and 
Panels of the Council. If an overview/review investigation reveals potential 
disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the 
Managing Director.

M.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any overview/review investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary 
to defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with.

M.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council. 

N. Conduct of 
meetings
N.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 

exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply.

N.2 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules detailed 
in Standing Order 15.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO15

P. Task groups/
informal Member 
working groups

P.1. Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any 
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task groups will 
be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally

P.2 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated with overview (which is the preserve of the 
Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may contribute to or 
inform the review process.

P.3 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members.  The 
political balance rules need not apply.

P.4 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the evidence 
gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings will involve 
different skills from those required by traditional committee meetings.  The 
task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group members are 
clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the opportunity to 
pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary questions if 
necessary.

P.5 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; and 
written submissions from participants. 

P.6 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 
the record of their attendance. 

P.7 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  The 
draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group Chairman 
before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Managing Director for 
comment.

P.8 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Managing Director.

P.9 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations to 
the relevant body i.e. local health service, GAC and/or Cabinet, etc. with a 
note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate.

P.10 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration.

Q. Sub-committees
Q.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to 
its sub-committees.

Q.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated with the 
overview function.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO16

R. Monitoring agreed 
actions
R.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the Council, 

Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will be 
monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually.

R.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee.

S. Declarations of 
interest
S.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 

of Conduct.

S.2 Representatives from local health service body, other partners and 
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct. 

S.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability.

S.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the interests 
at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests become apparent 
to them. 

S.5 The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly 
from the outputs of the Scrutiny Committee (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions 
and/or proposed decisions).  It may also involve the consideration of policy 
themes and matters of local concern, which may have potential implications 
for the policies of the Council. In the circumstances, subject to the rules 
detailed in section S.6 of this Protocol, Committee members and Lead 
Members who have been directly involved in policy development, may 
participate in the Committee’s policy development and/or review work.  

S.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol any 
Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) with a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may not take 
part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public gallery to 
observe the vote on the matter.

T. Review of this 
Protocol

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES & LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY IN 
LOCAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITIES

1. Summary

1.1 This report presents the Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local 
and Combined Authorities published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & 
Local Government (MHC&LG) in May 2019.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Statutory Guidance from the MHC&LG on Overview and Scrutiny in 
Local and Combined Authorities (attached as Appendix A to this report) be 
noted. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. On 7 May 2019, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHC&LG) published statutory guidance on the overview 
and scrutiny function in local and combined authorities in the areas of 
Culture, Resourcing and Power (to access information). The guidance 
is intended to ensure that local and combined authorities are aware of 
the purpose and benefits of effective overview and scrutiny and how to 
conduct it effectively.

3.2. The Policy Overview Committee’s Protocol (June 2019) considered 
elsewhere in the agenda, addresses the issues highlighted in the 
MHC&LG statutory guidance (Appendix A to this report). 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The overview and scrutiny process increases local democratic accountability 
and visibility of key local public services and partners.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A: Policy Overview Committee Protocol (June 2019)

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

4 June 
2019

David Hook
(01322) 343276

Democratic 
Services / Strategic 
Director (Internal 
Services)

N/A



 

May 2019 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

 

Statutory Guidance on Overview and 
Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities 

 



 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2019 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

May 2019 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5458-6

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


 

3 

Contents 

Ministerial Foreword 4 

About this Guidance 5 

1. Introduction and Context 7 

2. Culture 8 

3. Resourcing 13 

4. Selecting Committee Members 15 

5. Power to Access Information 18 

6. Planning Work 21 

7. Evidence Sessions 25 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 27 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging Independent Technical Advisers 28 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching an External Organisation to Appear 
before a Committee 30 

 

 



 

4 

Ministerial Foreword 

The role that overview and scrutiny can play in holding an authority’s decision-makers to 
account makes it fundamentally important to the successful functioning of local 
democracy. Effective scrutiny helps secure the efficient delivery of public services and 
drives improvements within the authority itself. Conversely, poor scrutiny can be indicative 
of wider governance, leadership and service failure. 
 
It is vital that councils and combined authorities know the purpose of scrutiny, what 
effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it and the benefits it can bring. This guidance 
aims to increase understanding in all four areas. 
 
In writing this guidance, my department has taken close note of the House of Commons 
Select Committee report of December 2017, as well as the written and oral evidence 
supplied to that Committee. We have also consulted individuals and organisations with 
practical involvement in conducting, researching and supporting scrutiny. 
 
It is clear from speaking to these practitioners that local and combined authorities with 
effective overview and scrutiny arrangements in place share certain key traits, the most 
important being a strong organisational culture. Authorities who welcome challenge and 
recognise the value scrutiny can bring reap the benefits. But this depends on strong 
commitment from the top - from senior members as well as senior officials. 
 
Crucially, this guidance recognises that authorities have democratic mandates and are 
ultimately accountable to their electorates, and that authorities themselves are best-placed 
to know which scrutiny arrangements are most appropriate for their own individual 
circumstances. 
 
I would, however, strongly urge all councils to cast a critical eye over their existing 
arrangements and, above all, ensure they embed a culture that allows overview and 
scrutiny to flourish. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
      Rishi Sunak MP 
     Minister for Local Government 

  



 

5 

About this Guidance 

Who the guidance is for 
This document is aimed at local authorities and combined authorities in England to help 
them carry out their overview and scrutiny functions effectively. In particular, it provides 
advice for senior leaders, members of overview and scrutiny committees, and support 
officers. 
 

Aim of the guidance 
This guidance seeks to ensure local authorities and combined authorities are aware of the 
purpose of overview and scrutiny, what effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it 
effectively and the benefits it can bring. 
 
As such, it includes a number of policies and practices authorities should adopt or should 
consider adopting when deciding how to carry out their overview and scrutiny functions. 
 
The guidance recognises that authorities approach scrutiny in different ways and have 
different processes and procedures in place, and that what might work well for one 
authority might not work well in another. 
 
The hypothetical scenarios contained in the annexes to this guidance have been included 
for illustrative purposes, and are intended to provoke thought and discussion rather than 
serve as a ‘best’ way to approach the relevant issues. 
 
While the guidance sets out some of the key legal requirements, it does not seek to 
replicate legislation. 
 

Status of the guidance 
This is statutory guidance from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. Local authorities and combined authorities must have regard to it when 
exercising their functions. The phrase ‘must have regard’, when used in this context, does 
not mean that the sections of statutory guidance have to be followed in every detail, but 
that they should be followed unless there is a good reason not to in a particular case. 
 
Not every authority is required to appoint a scrutiny committee. This guidance applies to 
those authorities who have such a committee in place, whether they are required to or not. 
 
This guidance has been issued under section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 and 
under paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development 
and Construction Act 2009, which requires authorities to have regard to this guidance. In 
addition, authorities may have regard to other material they might choose to consider, 
including that issued by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, when exercising their overview and 
scrutiny functions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

6 

Terminology 
Unless ‘overview’ is specifically mentioned, the term ‘scrutiny’ refers to both overview and 
scrutiny.1 

 
Where the term ‘authority’ is used, it refers to both local authorities and combined 
authorities. 
 
Where the term ‘scrutiny committee’ is used, it refers to an overview and scrutiny 
committee and any of its sub-committees. As the legislation refers throughout to powers 
conferred on scrutiny committees, that is the wording used in this guidance. However, the 
guidance should be seen as applying equally to work undertaken in informal task and 
finish groups, commissioned by formal committees. 
 
Where the term ‘executive’ is used, it refers to executive members. 
 
For combined authorities, references to the ‘executive’ or ‘cabinet’ should be interpreted as 
relating to the mayor (where applicable) and all the authority members. 
 
For authorities operating committee rather than executive arrangements, references to the 
executive or Cabinet should be interpreted as relating to councillors in leadership 
positions. 
 

Expiry or review date 
This guidance will be kept under review and updated as necessary. 
  

                                            
 
1 A distinction is often drawn between ‘overview’ which focuses on the development of 
policy, and ‘scrutiny’ which looks at decisions that have been made or are about to be 
made to ensure they are fit for purpose. 



 

7 

1. Introduction and Context 

1. Overview and scrutiny committees were introduced in 2000 as part of new 
executive governance arrangements to ensure that members of an authority who 
were not part of the executive could hold the executive to account for the decisions 
and actions that affect their communities. 

 
2. Overview and scrutiny committees have statutory powers2 to scrutinise decisions 

the executive is planning to take, those it plans to implement, and those that have 
already been taken/implemented. Recommendations following scrutiny enable 
improvements to be made to policies and how they are implemented. Overview and 
scrutiny committees can also play a valuable role in developing policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3. The requirement for local authorities in England to establish overview and scrutiny 
committees is set out in sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011. 

 
4. The Localism Act 2011 amended the Local Government Act 2000 to allow councils 

to revert to a non-executive form of governance - the ‘committee system’. Councils 
who adopt the committee system are not required to have overview and scrutiny but 
may do so if they wish. The legislation has been strengthened and updated since 
2000, most recently to reflect new governance arrangements with combined 
authorities. Requirements for combined authorities are set out in Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

 
5. Current overview and scrutiny legislation recognises that authorities are 

democratically-elected bodies who are best-placed to determine which overview 
and scrutiny arrangements best suit their own individual needs, and so gives them a 
great degree of flexibility to decide which arrangements to adopt. 

 
6. In producing this guidance, the Government fully recognises both authorities’ 

democratic mandate and that the nature of local government has changed in recent 
years, with, for example, the creation of combined authorities, and councils 
increasingly delivering key services in partnership with other organisations or 
outsourcing them entirely. 

  

                                            
 
2 Section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 1 of Schedule 5A to the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Effective overview and scrutiny should: 

• Provide constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge; 

• Amplify the voices and concerns of the public; 

• Be led by independent people who take responsibility for their 
role; and 

• Drive improvement in public services. 
 



 

8 

2. Culture 

7. The prevailing organisational culture, behaviours and attitudes of an authority will 
largely determine whether its scrutiny function succeeds or fails. 

 
8. While everyone in an authority can play a role in creating an environment conducive 

to effective scrutiny, it is important that this is led and owned by members, given 
their role in setting and maintaining the culture of an authority. 
 

9. Creating a strong organisational culture supports scrutiny work that can add real 
value by, for example, improving policy-making and the efficient delivery of public 
services. In contrast, low levels of support for and engagement with the scrutiny 
function often lead to poor quality and ill-focused work that serves to reinforce the 
perception that it is of little worth or relevance. 

 
10. Members and senior officers should note that the performance of the scrutiny 

function is not just of interest to the authority itself. Its effectiveness, or lack thereof, 
is often considered by external bodies such as regulators and inspectors, and 
highlighted in public reports, including best value inspection reports. Failures in 
scrutiny can therefore help to create a negative public image of the work of an 
authority as a whole. 

 
How to establish a strong organisational culture 

11. Authorities can establish a strong organisational culture by: 
 

a) Recognising scrutiny’s legal and democratic legitimacy – all members and 
officers should recognise and appreciate the importance and legitimacy the 
scrutiny function is afforded by the law. It was created to act as a check and 
balance on the executive and is a statutory requirement for all authorities 
operating executive arrangements and for combined authorities. 
 
Councillors have a unique legitimacy derived from their being democratically 
elected. The insights that they can bring by having this close connection to local 
people are part of what gives scrutiny its value.  
 

b) Identifying a clear role and focus – authorities should take steps to ensure 
scrutiny has a clear role and focus within the organisation, i.e. a niche within 
which it can clearly demonstrate it adds value. Therefore, prioritisation is 
necessary to ensure the scrutiny function concentrates on delivering work that 
is of genuine value and relevance to the work of the wider authority – this is one 
of the most challenging parts of scrutiny, and a critical element to get right if it is 
to be recognised as a strategic function of the authority (see chapter 6). 
 
Authorities should ensure a clear division of responsibilities between the 
scrutiny function and the audit function. While it is appropriate for scrutiny to pay 
due regard to the authority’s financial position, this will need to happen in the 
context of the formal audit role. The authority’s section 151 officer should advise 
scrutiny on how to manage this dynamic. 



 

9 

 
While scrutiny has no role in the investigation or oversight of the authority’s 
whistleblowing arrangements, the findings of independent whistleblowing 
investigations might be of interest to scrutiny committees as they consider their 
wider implications. Members should always follow the authority’s constitution 
and associated Monitoring Officer directions on the matter. Further guidance on 
whistleblowing can be found at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-
and-code-of-practice.pdf. 
 

c) Ensuring early and regular engagement between the executive and 
scrutiny – authorities should ensure early and regular discussion takes place 
between scrutiny and the executive, especially regarding the latter’s future work 
programme. Authorities should, though, be mindful of their distinct roles: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
d) Managing disagreement – effective scrutiny involves looking at issues that can 

be politically contentious. It is therefore inevitable that, at times, an executive 
will disagree with the findings or recommendations of a scrutiny committee. 
 
It is the job of both the executive and scrutiny to work together to reduce the risk 
of this happening, and authorities should take steps to predict, identify and act 
on disagreement. 
 
One way in which this can be done is via an ‘executive-scrutiny protocol’ (see 
annex 1) which can help define the relationship between the two and mitigate 
any differences of opinion before they manifest themselves in unhelpful and 
unproductive ways. The benefit of this approach is that it provides a framework 
for disagreement and debate, and a way to manage it when it happens. Often, 

In particular: 
 

• The executive should not try to exercise control over the work of 
the scrutiny committee. This could be direct, e.g. by purporting to 
‘order’ scrutiny to look at, or not look at, certain issues, or 
indirect, e.g. through the use of the whip or as a tool of political 
patronage, and the committee itself should remember its 
statutory purpose when carrying out its work. All members and 
officers should consider the role the scrutiny committee plays to 
be that of a ‘critical friend’ not a de facto ‘opposition’. Scrutiny 
chairs have a particular role to play in establishing the profile and 
nature of their committee (see chapter 4); and 

 

• The chair of the scrutiny committee should determine the nature 
and extent of an executive member’s participation in a scrutiny 
committee meeting, and in any informal scrutiny task group 
meeting. 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf


 

10 

the value of such a protocol lies in the dialogue that underpins its preparation. It 
is important that these protocols are reviewed on a regular basis. 
 
Scrutiny committees do have the power to ‘call in’ decisions, i.e. ask the 
executive to reconsider them before they are implemented, but should not view 
it as a substitute for early involvement in the decision-making process or as a 
party-political tool. 
 

e) Providing the necessary support – while the level of resource allocated to 
scrutiny is for each authority to decide for itself, when determining resources an 
authority should consider the purpose of scrutiny as set out in legislation and 
the specific role and remit of the authority’s own scrutiny committee(s), and the 
scrutiny function as a whole. 
 
Support should also be given by members and senior officers to scrutiny 
committees and their support staff to access information held by the authority 
and facilitate discussions with representatives of external bodies (see chapter 
5). 
 

f) Ensuring impartial advice from officers – authorities, particularly senior 
officers, should ensure all officers are free to provide impartial advice to scrutiny 
committees. This is fundamental to effective scrutiny. Of particular importance is 
the role played by ‘statutory officers’ – the monitoring officer, the section 151 
officer and the head of paid service, and where relevant the statutory scrutiny 
officer. These individuals have a particular role in ensuring that timely, relevant 
and high-quality advice is provided to scrutiny.  
 

g) Communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider authority – the 
scrutiny function can often lack support and recognition within an authority 
because there is a lack of awareness among both members and officers about 
the specific role it plays, which individuals are involved and its relevance to the 
authority’s wider work. Authorities should, therefore, take steps to ensure all 
members and officers are made aware of the role the scrutiny committee plays 
in the organisation, its value and the outcomes it can deliver, the powers it has, 
its membership and, if appropriate, the identity of those providing officer 
support. 
 

h) Maintaining the interest of full Council in the work of the scrutiny 
committee – part of communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider 
authority should happen through the formal, public role of full Council – 
particularly given that scrutiny will undertake valuable work to highlight 
challenging issues that an authority will be facing and subjects that will be a 
focus of full Council’s work. Authorities should therefore take steps to ensure full 
Council is informed of the work the scrutiny committee is doing. 
 
One way in which this can be done is by reports and recommendations being 
submitted to full Council rather than solely to the executive. Scrutiny should 
decide when it would be appropriate to submit reports for wider debate in this 
way, taking into account the relevance of reports to full Council business, as 
well as full Council’s capacity to consider and respond in a timely manner. Such 



 

11 

reports would supplement the annual report to full Council on scrutiny’s 
activities and raise awareness of ongoing work. 
 
In order to maintain awareness of scrutiny at the Combined Authority and 
provoke dialogue and discussion of its impact, the business of scrutiny should 
be reported to the Combined Authority board or to the chairs of the relevant 
scrutiny committees of constituent and non-constituent authorities, or both. At 
those chairs’ discretion, particular Combined Authority scrutiny outcomes, and 
what they might mean for each individual area, could be either discussed by 
scrutiny in committee or referred to full Council of the constituent authorities.  
 

i) Communicating scrutiny’s role to the public – authorities should ensure 
scrutiny has a profile in the wider community. Consideration should be given to 
how and when to engage the authority’s communications officers, and any other 
relevant channels, to understand how to get that message across. This will 
usually require engagement early on in the work programming process (see 
chapter 6). 
 

j) Ensuring scrutiny members are supported in having an independent 
mindset – formal committee meetings provide a vital opportunity for scrutiny 
members to question the executive and officers. 
 
Inevitably, some committee members will come from the same political party as 
a member they are scrutinising and might well have a long-standing personal, 
or familial, relationship with them (see paragraph 25). 
 
Scrutiny members should bear in mind, however, that adopting an independent 
mind-set is fundamental to carrying out their work effectively. In practice, this is 
likely to require scrutiny chairs working proactively to identify any potentially 
contentious issues and plan how to manage them. 

 
Directly-elected mayoral systems 

12. A strong organisational culture that supports scrutiny work is particularly important 
in authorities with a directly-elected mayor to ensure there are the checks and 
balances to maintain a robust democratic system. Mayoral systems offer the 
opportunity for greater public accountability and stronger governance, but there 
have also been incidents that highlight the importance of creating and maintaining a 
culture that puts scrutiny at the heart of its operations.  

 
13. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should ensure that scrutiny committees are 

well-resourced, are able to recruit high-calibre members and that their scrutiny 
functions pay particular attention to issues surrounding: 

• rights of access to documents by the press, public and councillors; 

• transparent and fully recorded decision-making processes, especially 
avoiding decisions by ‘unofficial’ committees or working groups; 

• delegated decisions by the Mayor; 

• whistleblowing protections for both staff and councillors; and 

• powers of Full Council, where applicable, to question and review. 
 



 

12 

14. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should note that mayors are required by 
law to attend overview and scrutiny committee sessions when asked to do so (see 
paragraph 44). 

  



 

13 

3. Resourcing 

15. The resource an authority allocates to the scrutiny function plays a pivotal role in 
determining how successful that function is and therefore the value it can add to the 
work of the authority. 

 
16. Ultimately it is up to each authority to decide on the resource it provides, but every 

authority should recognise that creating and sustaining an effective scrutiny function 
requires them to allocate resources to it. 

 
17. Authorities should also recognise that support for scrutiny committees, task groups 

and other activities is not solely about budgets and provision of officer time, 
although these are clearly extremely important elements. Effective support is also 
about the ways in which the wider authority engages with those who carry out the 
scrutiny function (both members and officers). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Statutory scrutiny officers 

18. Combined authorities, upper and single tier authorities are required to designate a 
statutory scrutiny officer,3 someone whose role is to: 

• promote the role of the authority’s scrutiny committee; 

• provide support to the scrutiny committee and its members; and 

• provide support and guidance to members and officers relating to the functions 
of the scrutiny committee. 

 

                                            
 
3 Section 9FB of the Local Government Act 2000; article 9 of the Combined Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 
2017 

When deciding on the level of resource to allocate to the scrutiny 
function, the factors an authority should consider include: 

• Scrutiny’s legal powers and responsibilities; 

• The particular role and remit scrutiny will play in the authority; 

• The training requirements of scrutiny members and support 
officers, particularly the support needed to ask effective 
questions of the executive and other key partners, and make 
effective recommendations; 

• The need for ad hoc external support where expertise does not 
exist in the council; 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny has been shown to add value to 
the work of authorities, improving their ability to meet the needs 
of local people; and 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny can help policy formulation and so 
minimise the need for call-in of executive decisions. 

 



 

14 

19. Authorities not required by law to appoint such an officer should consider whether 
doing so would be appropriate for their specific local needs. 

 
Officer resource models 

20. Authorities are free to decide for themselves which wider officer support model best 
suits their individual circumstances, though generally they adopt one or a mix of the 
following: 

• Committee – officers are drawn from specific policy or service areas; 

• Integrated – officers are drawn from the corporate centre and also service the 
executive; and 

• Specialist – officers are dedicated to scrutiny. 
 

21. Each model has its merits – the committee model provides service-specific 
expertise; the integrated model facilitates closer and earlier scrutiny involvement in 
policy formation and alignment of corporate work programmes; and the specialist 
model is structurally independent from those areas it scrutinises. 

 
22. Authorities should ensure that, whatever model they employ, officers tasked with 

providing scrutiny support are able to provide impartial advice. This might require 
consideration of the need to build safeguards into the way that support is provided. 
The nature of these safeguards will differ according to the specific role scrutiny 
plays in the organisation. 

  



 

15 

4. Selecting Committee Members 

23. Selecting the right members to serve on scrutiny committees is essential if those 
committees are to function effectively. Where a committee is made up of members 
who have the necessary skills and commitment, it is far more likely to be taken 
seriously by the wider authority. 

 
24. While there are proportionality requirements that must be met,4 the selection of the 

chair and other committee members is for each authority to decide for itself. 
Guidance for combined authorities on this issue has been produced by the Centre 
for Public Scrutiny5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

25. Authorities are reminded that members of the executive cannot be members of a 
scrutiny committee.6 Authorities should take care to ensure that, as a minimum, 
members holding less formal executive positions, e.g. as Cabinet assistants, do not 
sit on scrutinising committees looking at portfolios to which those roles relate. 
Authorities should articulate in their constitutions how conflicts of interest, including 
familial links (see also paragraph 31), between executive and scrutiny 
responsibilities should be managed, including where members stand down from the 
executive and move to a scrutiny role, and vice-versa. 

 
26. Members or substitute members of a combined authority must not be members of 

its overview and scrutiny committee.7 This includes the Mayor in Mayoral Combined 
Authorities. It is advised that Deputy Mayors for Policing and Crime are also not 
members of the combined authority’s overview and scrutiny committee. 

 
Selecting individual committee members 

27. When selecting individual members to serve on scrutiny committees, an authority 
should consider a member’s experience, expertise, interests, ability to act 
impartially, ability to work as part of a group, and capacity to serve. 

 

                                            
 
4 See, for example, regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Committee System) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (S.I. 2012/1020) and article 4 of the Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 
2017/68). 
5 See pages 15-18 of ‘Overview and scrutiny in combined authorities: a plain English 
guide’: https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-

authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf 
6 Section 9FA(3) of the Local Government Act 2000. 
7 2(3) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction 
Act 2009 

Members invariably have different skill-sets. What an authority must 
consider when forming a committee is that, as a group, it possesses the 
requisite expertise, commitment and ability to act impartially to fulfil its 
functions. 

https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf


 

16 

28. Authorities should not take into account a member’s perceived level of support for 
or opposition to a particular political party (notwithstanding the wider legal 
requirement for proportionality referred to in paragraph 24). 

 
Selecting a chair 

29. The Chair plays a leadership role on a scrutiny committee as they are largely 
responsible for establishing its profile, influence and ways of working. 

 
30. The attributes authorities should and should not take into account when selecting 

individual committee members (see paragraphs 27 and 28) also apply to the 
selection of the Chair, but the Chair should also possess the ability to lead and build 
a sense of teamwork and consensus among committee members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

31. Given their pre-eminent role on the scrutiny committee, it is strongly recommended 
that the Chair not preside over scrutiny of their relatives8. Combined authorities 
should note the legal requirements that apply to them where the Chair is an 
independent person9. 

 
32. The method for selecting a Chair is for each authority to decide for itself, however 

every authority should consider taking a vote by secret ballot. Combined Authorities 
should be aware of the legal requirements regarding the party affiliation of their 
scrutiny committee Chair10. 

 
Training for committee members 

33. Authorities should ensure committee members are offered induction when they take 
up their role and ongoing training so they can carry out their responsibilities 
effectively. Authorities should pay attention to the need to ensure committee 
members are aware of their legal powers, and how to prepare for and ask relevant 
questions at scrutiny sessions. 

 
34. When deciding on training requirements for committee members, authorities should 

consider taking advantage of opportunities offered by external providers in the 
sector. 

 
Co-option and technical advice 

35. While members and their support officers will often have significant local insight and 
an understanding of local people and their needs, the provision of outside expertise 
can be invaluable. 

                                            
 
8 A definition of ‘relative’ can be found at section 28(10) of the Localism Act 2011. 
9 See article 5(2) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access 
to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 2017/68). 
10 Article 5(6) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to 
Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

Chairs should pay special attention to the need to guard the 
committee’s independence. Importantly, however, they should take care 
to avoid the committee being, and being viewed as, a de facto 
opposition to the executive. 



 

17 

 
36. There are two principal ways to procure this: 

• Co-option – formal co-option is provided for in legislation11. Authorities must 
establish a co-option scheme to determine how individuals will be co-opted onto 
committees; and 

• Technical advisers – depending on the subject matter, independent local 
experts might exist who can provide advice and assistance in evaluating 
evidence (see annex 2). 

  

                                            
 
11 Section 9FA(4) Local Government Act 2000 



 

18 

5. Power to Access Information 

37. A scrutiny committee needs access to relevant information the authority holds, and 
to receive it in good time, if it is to do its job effectively. 

 
38. This need is recognised in law, with members of scrutiny committees enjoying 

powers to access information12. In particular, regulations give enhanced powers to a 
scrutiny member to access exempt or confidential information. This is in addition to 
existing rights for councillors to have access to information to perform their duties, 
including common law rights to request information and rights to request information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. 

 
39. When considering what information scrutiny needs in order to carry out its work, 

scrutiny members and the executive should consider scrutiny’s role and the legal 
rights that committees and their individual members have, as well as their need to 
receive timely and accurate information to carry out their duties effectively. 

 
40. Scrutiny members should have access to a regularly available source of key 

information about the management of the authority – particularly on performance, 
management and risk. Where this information exists, and scrutiny members are 
given support to understand it, the potential for what officers might consider 
unfocused and unproductive requests is reduced as members will be able to frame 
their requests from a more informed position. 

 
41. Officers should speak to scrutiny members to ensure they understand the reasons 

why information is needed, thereby making the authority better able to provide 
information that is relevant and timely, as well as ensuring that the authority 
complies with legal requirements. 

 
 
 
 
 

42. The law recognises that there might be instances where it is legitimate for an 
authority to withhold information and places a requirement on the executive to 
provide the scrutiny committee with a written statement setting out its reasons for 
that decision13. However, members of the executive and senior officers should take 
particular care to avoid refusing requests, or limiting the information they provide, 
for reasons of party political or reputational expediency. 

                                            
 
12 Regulation 17 - Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10 Combined Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
13 Regulation 17(4) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(4) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

While each request for information should be judged on its individual 
merits, authorities should adopt a default position of sharing the 
information they hold, on request, with scrutiny committee members. 
 

 



 

19 

 
 
 
 
 
 

43. Regulations already stipulate a timeframe for executives to comply with requests 
from a scrutiny member14. When agreeing to such requests, authorities should: 

• consider whether seeking clarification from the information requester could 
help better target the request; and 

• Ensure the information is supplied in a format appropriate to the recipient’s 
needs. 

 

44. Committees should be aware of their legal power to require members of the 
executive and officers to attend before them to answer questions15. It is the duty of 
members and officers to comply with such requests.16 

 
Seeking information from external organisations 

45. Scrutiny members should also consider the need to supplement any authority-held 
information they receive with information and intelligence that might be available 
from other sources, and should note in particular their statutory powers to access 
information from certain external organisations. 

 
46. When asking an external organisation to provide documentation or appear before it, 

and where that organisation is not legally obliged to do either (see annex 3), 
scrutiny committees should consider the following: 

 
a) The need to explain the purpose of scrutiny – the organisation being 

approached might have little or no awareness of the committee’s work, or of an 
authority’s scrutiny function more generally, and so might be reluctant to comply 
with any request; 
 

b) The benefits of an informal approach – individuals from external 
organisations can have fixed perceptions of what an evidence session entails 
and may be unwilling to subject themselves to detailed public scrutiny if they 
believe it could reflect badly on them or their employer. Making an informal 
approach can help reassure an organisation of the aims of the committee, the 
type of information being sought and the manner in which the evidence session 
would be conducted; 
 

                                            
 
14 Regulation 17(2) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(2) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
15 Section 9FA(8) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(6) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 
16 Section 9FA(9) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(7) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Before an authority takes a decision not to share information it holds, it 
should give serious consideration to whether that information could be 
shared in closed session. 



 

20 

c) How to encourage compliance with the request – scrutiny committees will 
want to frame their approach on a case by case basis. For contentious issues, 
committees might want to emphasise the opportunity their request gives the 
organisation to ‘set the record straight’ in a public setting; and 
 

d) Who to approach – a committee might instinctively want to ask the Chief 
Executive or Managing Director of an organisation to appear at an evidence 
session, however it could be more beneficial to engage front-line staff when 
seeking operational-level detail rather than senior executives who might only be 
able to talk in more general terms. When making a request to a specific 
individual, the committee should consider the type of information it is seeking, 
the nature of the organisation in question and the authority’s pre-existing 
relationship with it. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Following ‘the Council Pound’ 
Scrutiny committees will often have a keen interest in ‘following the 
council pound’, i.e. scrutinising organisations that receive public funding 
to deliver goods and services. 
 
Authorities should recognise the legitimacy of this interest and, where 
relevant, consider the need to provide assistance to scrutiny members 
and their support staff to obtain information from organisations the 
council has contracted to deliver services. In particular, when agreeing 
contracts with these bodies, authorities should consider whether it 
would be appropriate to include a requirement for them to supply 
information to or appear before scrutiny committees. 
 



 

21 

6. Planning Work 

47. Effective scrutiny should have a defined impact on the ground, with the committee 
making recommendations that will make a tangible difference to the work of the 
authority. To have this kind of impact, scrutiny committees need to plan their work 
programme, i.e. draw up a long-term agenda and consider making it flexible enough 
to accommodate any urgent, short-term issues that might arise during the year. 

 
48. Authorities with multiple scrutiny committees sometimes have a separate work 

programme for each committee. Where this happens, consideration should be given 
to how to co-ordinate the various committees’ work to make best use of the total 
resources available. 

 
Being clear about scrutiny’s role 

49. Scrutiny works best when it has a clear role and function. This provides focus and 
direction. While scrutiny has the power to look at anything which affects ‘the area, 
or the area’s inhabitants’, authorities will often find it difficult to support a scrutiny 
function that carries out generalised oversight across the wide range of issues 
experienced by local people, particularly in the context of partnership working. 
Prioritisation is necessary, which means that there might be things that, despite 
being important, scrutiny will not be able to look at. 

 
50. Different overall roles could include having a focus on risk, the authority’s finances, 

or on the way the authority works with its partners. 
 

51. Applying this focus does not mean that certain subjects are ‘off limits’. It is more 
about looking at topics and deciding whether their relative importance justifies the 
positive impact scrutiny’s further involvement could bring. 

 
52. When thinking about scrutiny’s focus, members should be supported by key senior 

officers. The statutory scrutiny officer, if an authority has one, will need to take a 
leading role in supporting members to clarify the role and function of scrutiny, and 
championing that role once agreed. 

 
Who to speak to 

53. Evidence will need to be gathered to inform the work programming process. This 
will ensure that it looks at the right topics, in the right way and at the right time. 
Gathering evidence requires conversations with: 

• The public – it is likely that formal ‘consultation’ with the public on the scrutiny 
work programme will be ineffective. Asking individual scrutiny members to have 
conversations with individuals and groups in their own local areas can work 
better. Insights gained from the public through individual pieces of scrutiny work 
can be fed back into the work programming process. Listening to and 
participating in conversations in places where local people come together, 
including in online forums, can help authorities engage people on their own 
terms and yield more positive results. 
 



 

22 

Authorities should consider how their communications officers can help scrutiny 
engage with the public, and how wider internal expertise and local knowledge 
from both members and officers might make a contribution. 

 

• The authority’s partners – relationships with other partners should not be limited 
to evidence-gathering to support individual reviews or agenda items. A range of 
partners are likely to have insights that will prove useful: 
o Public sector partners (like the NHS and community safety partners, over 

which scrutiny has specific legal powers); 
o Voluntary sector partners; 
o Contractors and commissioning partners (including partners in joint 

ventures and authority-owned companies); 
o In parished areas, town, community and parish councils; 
o Neighbouring principal councils (both in two-tier and unitary areas); 
o Cross-authority bodies and organisations, such as Local Enterprise 

Partnerships17; and 
o Others with a stake and interest in the local area – large local employers, 

for example. 
 

• The executive – a principal partner in discussions on the work programme 
should be the executive (and senior officers). The executive should not direct 
scrutiny’s work (see chapter 2), but conversations will help scrutiny members 
better understand how their work can be designed to align with the best 
opportunities to influence the authority’s wider work. 

 
Information sources 

54. Scrutiny will need access to relevant information to inform its work programme. The 
type of information will depend on the specific role and function scrutiny plays within 
the authority, but might include: 

• Performance information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Finance and risk information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Corporate complaints information, and aggregated information from political 
groups about the subject matter of members’ surgeries; 

• Business cases and options appraisals (and other planning information) for 
forthcoming major decisions. This information will be of particular use for pre-
decision scrutiny; and 

• Reports and recommendations issued by relevant ombudsmen, especially 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

                                            
 
17 Authorities should ensure they have appropriate arrangements in place to ensure the 
effective democratic scrutiny of Local Enterprise Partnerships’ investment decisions. 



 

23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55. Scrutiny members should consider keeping this information under regular review. It 
is likely to be easier to do this outside committee, rather than bringing such 
information to committee ’to note’, or to provide an update, as a matter of course. 

 
Shortlisting topics 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56. Some authorities use scoring systems to evaluate and rank work programme 
proposals. If these are used to provoke discussion and debate, based on evidence, 
about what priorities should be, they can be a useful tool. Others take a looser 
approach. Whichever method is adopted, a committee should be able to justify how 
and why a decision has been taken to include certain issues and not others. 

 
57. Scrutiny members should accept that shortlisting can be difficult; scrutiny 

committees have finite resources and deciding how these are best allocated is 
tough. They should understand that, if work programming is robust and effective, 
there might well be issues that they want to look at that nonetheless are not 
selected. 

 
Carrying out work 

58. Selected topics can be scrutinised in several ways, including: 

 
a) As a single item on a committee agenda – this often presents a limited 

opportunity for effective scrutiny, but may be appropriate for some issues or 
where the committee wants to maintain a formal watching brief over a given 
issue; 
 

b) At a single meeting – which could be a committee meeting or something less 
formal. This can provide an opportunity to have a single public meeting about a 

As committees can meet in closed session, commercial confidentiality 
should not preclude the sharing of information. Authorities should note, 
however, that the default for meetings should be that they are held in 
public (see 2014 guidance on ‘Open and accountable local 
government’: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf). 

Approaches to shortlisting topics should reflect scrutiny’s overall role in 
the authority. This will require the development of bespoke, local 
solutions, however when considering whether an item should be 
included in the work programme, the kind of questions a scrutiny 
committee should consider might include: 

• Do we understand the benefits scrutiny would bring to 
this issue? 

• How could we best carry out work on this subject? 

• What would be the best outcome of this work? 

• How would this work engage with the activity of the 
executive and other decision-makers, including partners? 

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf


 

24 

given subject, or to have a meeting at which evidence is taken from a number of 
witnesses; 
 

c) At a task and finish review of two or three meetings – short, sharp scrutiny 
reviews are likely to be most effective even for complex topics. Properly 
focused, they ensure members can swiftly reach conclusions and make 
recommendations, perhaps over the course of a couple of months or less; 
 

d) Via a longer-term task and finish review – the ‘traditional’ task and finish 
model – with perhaps six or seven meetings spread over a number of months – 
is still appropriate when scrutiny needs to dig into a complex topic in significant 
detail. However, the resource implications of such work, and its length, can 
make it unattractive for all but the most complex matters; and 
 

e) By establishing a ‘standing panel’ – this falls short of establishing a whole 
new committee but may reflect a necessity to keep a watching brief over a 
critical local issue, especially where members feel they need to convene 
regularly to carry out that oversight. Again, the resource implications of this 
approach means that it will be rarely used. 

  



 

25 

7. Evidence Sessions 

59. Evidence sessions are a key way in which scrutiny committees inform their work. 
They might happen at formal committee, in less formal ‘task and finish’ groups or at 
standalone sessions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How to plan 

60. Effective planning does not necessarily involve a large number of pre-meetings, the 
development of complex scopes or the drafting of questioning plans. It is more often 
about setting overall objectives and then considering what type of questions (and 
the way in which they are asked) can best elicit the information the committee is 
seeking. This applies as much to individual agenda items as it does for longer 
evidence sessions – there should always be consideration in advance of what 
scrutiny is trying to get out of a particular evidence session. 

 
 
 
 
 

61. As far as possible there should be consensus among scrutiny members about the 
objective of an evidence session before it starts. It is important to recognise that 
members have different perspectives on certain issues, and so might not share the 
objectives for a session that are ultimately adopted. Where this happens, the Chair 
will need to be aware of this divergence of views and bear it in mind when planning 
the evidence session. 

 
62. Effective planning should mean that at the end of a session it is relatively 

straightforward for the chair to draw together themes and highlight the key findings. 
It is unlikely that the committee will be able to develop and agree recommendations 
immediately, but, unless the session is part of a wider inquiry, enough evidence 
should have been gathered to allow the chair to set a clear direction. 

 
63. After an evidence session, the committee might wish to hold a short ‘wash-up’ 

meeting to review whether their objectives were met and lessons could be learned 
for future sessions. 

 
Developing recommendations 

64. The development and agreement of recommendations is often an iterative process. 
It will usually be appropriate for this to be done only by members, assisted by co-
optees where relevant. When deciding on recommendations, however, members 
should have due regard to advice received from officers, particularly the Monitoring 
Officer. 

Good preparation is a vital part of conducting effective evidence 
sessions. Members should have a clear idea of what the committee 
hopes to get out of each session and appreciate that success will 
depend on their ability to work together on the day. 

Chairs play a vital role in leading discussions on objective-setting and 
ensuring all members are aware of the specific role each will play during 
the evidence session. 
 



 

26 

 
65. The drafting of reports is usually, but not always, carried out by officers, directed by 

members. 
 

66. Authorities draft reports and recommendations in a number of ways, but there are 
normally three stages: 

 
i. the development of a ‘heads of report’ – a document setting out general 

findings that members can then discuss as they consider the overall structure 
and focus of the report and its recommendations; 
 

ii. the development of those findings, which will set out some areas on which 
recommendations might be made; and  
 

iii. the drafting of the full report. 
 

67. Recommendations should be evidence-based and SMART, i.e. specific, 
measurable, achievable, relevant and timed. Where appropriate, committees may 
wish to consider sharing them in draft with interested parties. 

 
68. Committees should bear in mind that often six to eight recommendations are 

sufficient to enable the authority to focus its response, although there may be 
specific circumstances in which more might be appropriate. 

 
 
 
  

Sharing draft recommendations with executive members should not 
provide an opportunity for them to revise or block recommendations 
before they are made. It should, however, provide an opportunity for 
errors to be identified and corrected, and for a more general sense-
check. 



 

27 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an 
Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 

An executive-scrutiny protocol can deal with the practical expectations of scrutiny 
committee members and the executive, as well as the cultural dynamics. 
 
Workshops with scrutiny members, senior officers and Cabinet can be helpful to inform the 
drafting of a protocol. An external facilitator can help bring an independent perspective.  
 
Councils should consider how to adopt a protocol, e.g. formal agreement at scrutiny 
committee and Cabinet, then formal integration into the Council’s constitution at the next 
Annual General Meeting. 
 
The protocol, as agreed, may contain sections on: 
 

• The way scrutiny will go about developing its work programme (including the ways 
in which senior officers and Cabinet members will be kept informed); 

• The way in which senior officers and Cabinet will keep scrutiny informed of the 
outlines of major decisions as they are developed, to allow for discussion of 
scrutiny’s potential involvement in policy development. This involves the building in 
of safeguards to mitigate risks around the sharing of sensitive information with 
scrutiny members; 

• A strengthening and expansion of existing parts of the code of conduct that relate to 
behaviour in formal meetings, and in informal meetings; 

• Specification of the nature and form of responses that scrutiny can expect when it 
makes recommendations to the executive, when it makes requests to the executive 
for information, and when it makes requests that Cabinet members or senior 
officers attend meetings; and 

• Confirmation of the role of the statutory scrutiny officer, and Monitoring Officer, in 
overseeing compliance with the protocol, and ensuring that it is used to support the 
wider aim of supporting and promoting a culture of scrutiny, with matters relating to 
the protocol’s success being reported to full Council through the scrutiny Annual 
Report. 

  



 

28 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging 
Independent Technical Advisers 

This example demonstrates how one Council’s executive and scrutiny committee worked 
together to scope a role and then appoint an independent adviser on transforming social 
care commissioning. Their considerations and process may be helpful and applicable in 
other similar scenarios.   
 
Major care contracts were coming to an end and the Council took the opportunity to review 
whether to continue with its existing strategic commissioning framework, or take a different 
approach – potentially insourcing certain elements. 
 
The relevant Director was concerned about the Council’s reliance on a very small number 
of large providers. The Director therefore approached the Scrutiny and Governance 
Manager to talk through the potential role scrutiny could play as the Council considered 
these changes. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair wanted to look at this issue in some depth, but recognised its 
complexity could make it difficult for her committee to engage – she was concerned it 
would not be able to do the issue justice. The Director offered support from his own officer 
team, but the Chair considered this approach to be beset by risks around the 
independence of the process. 
 
She talked to the Director about securing independent advice. He was worried that an 
independent adviser could come with preconceived ideas and would not understand the 
Council’s context and objectives. The Scrutiny Chair was concerned that independent 
advice could end up leading to scrutiny members being passive, relying on an adviser to 
do their thinking for them. They agreed that some form of independent assistance would 
be valuable, but that how it was provided and managed should be carefully thought out. 
 
With the assistance of the Governance and Scrutiny Manager, the Scrutiny Chair 
approached local universities and Further Education institutions to identify an appropriate 
individual. The approach was clear – it set out the precise role expected of the adviser, 
and explained the scrutiny process itself. Because members wanted to focus on the risks 
of market failure, and felt more confident on substantive social care matters, the approach 
was directed at those with a specialism in economics and business administration. The 
Council’s search was proactive – the assistance of the service department was drawn on 
to make direct approaches to particular individuals who could carry out this role. 
 
It was agreed to make a small budget available to act as a ‘per diem’ to support an 
adviser; academics were approached in the first instance as the Council felt able to make 
a case that an educational institution would provide this support for free as part of its 
commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility. 
 
Three individuals were identified from the Council’s proactive search. The Chair and Vice-
Chair of the committee had an informal discussion with each – not so much to establish 
their skills and expertise (which had already been assessed) but to give a sense about 



 

29 

their ‘fit’ with scrutiny’s objectives and their political nous in understanding the environment 
in which they would operate, and to satisfy themselves that they will apply themselves 
even-handedly to the task. The Director sat in on this process but played no part in who 
was ultimately selected. 
 
The independent advice provided by the selected individual gave the Scrutiny Committee 
a more comprehensive understanding of the issue and meant it was able to offer informed 
advice on the merits of putting in place a new strategic commissioning framework. 
  



 

30 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching 
an External Organisation to Appear before a 
Committee 

This example shows how one council ensured a productive scrutiny meeting, involving a 
private company and the public. Lessons may be drawn and apply to other similar 
scenarios.  
 
Concerns had been expressed by user groups, and the public at large, about the reliability 
of the local bus service. The Scrutiny Chair wanted to question the bus company in a 
public evidence session but knew that she had no power to compel it to attend. Previous 
attempts to engage it had been unsuccessful; the company was not hostile, but said it had 
its own ways of engaging the public. 
 
The Monitoring Officer approached the company’s regional PR manager, but he expressed 
concern that the session would end in a ‘bunfight’. He also explained the company had put 
their improvement plan in the public domain, and felt a big council meeting would 
exacerbate tensions. 
 
Other councillors had strong views about the company – one thought the committee 
should tell the company it would be empty-chaired if it refused to attend. The Scrutiny 
Chair was sympathetic to this, but thought such an approach would not lead to any 
improvements. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair was keen to make progress, but it was difficult to find the right person 
to speak to at the company, so she asked council officers and local transport advocacy 
groups for advice. Speaking to those people also gave her a better sense of what 
scrutiny’s role might be. 
 
When she finally spoke to the company’s network manager, she explained the situation 
and suggested they work together to consider how the meeting could be productive for the 
Council, the company and local people. In particular, this provided her with an opportunity 
to explain scrutiny and its role. The network manager remained sceptical but was 
reassured that they could work together to ensure that the meeting would not be an 
‘ambush’. He agreed in principle to attend and also provide information to support the 
Committee’s work beforehand. 
 
Discussions continued in the four weeks leading up to the Committee meeting. The 
Scrutiny Chair was conscious that while she had to work with the company to ensure that 
the meeting was constructive – and secure their attendance – it could not be a whitewash, 
and other members and the public would demand a hard edge to the discussions. 
 
The scrutiny committee agreed that the meeting would provide a space for the company to 
provide context to the problems local people are experiencing, but that this would be 
preceded by a space on the agenda for the Chair, Vice-chair, and representatives from 
two local transport advocacy groups to set out their concerns. The company were sent in 



 

31 

advance a summary of the general areas on which members were likely to ask questions, 
to ensure that those questions could be addressed at the meeting. 
 
Finally, provision was made for public questions and debate. Those attending the meeting 
were invited to discuss with each other the principal issues they wanted the meeting to 
cover. A short, facilitated discussion in the room led by the Chair highlighted the key 
issues, and the Chair then put those points to the company representatives.  
 
At the end of the meeting, the public asked questions of the bus company representative 
in a 20-minute plenary item. 
 
The meeting was fractious, but the planning carried out to prepare for this – by channelling 
issues through discussion and using the Chair to mediate the questioning – made things 
easier. Some attendees were initially frustrated by this structure, but the company 
representative was more open and less defensive than might otherwise have been the 
case.  
 
The meeting also motivated the company to revise its communications plan to become 
more responsive to this kind of challenge, part of which involved a commitment to feed 
back to the scrutiny committee on the recommendations it made on the night. 
 





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ROLLING WORK PLAN 2019/20

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out a draft rolling Work Plan for the Committee for the ensuing 
2019-20 municipal cycle and beyond.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That, subject to the views of Members in Committee, the draft rolling Work 
Plan for the 2019-20 municipal cycle and beyond be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. At the first meeting of the Policy Overview Committee in June each 
year, a draft Rolling Work Plan for the work of the Committee in the 
ensuing municipal cycle and beyond, is submitted to Members for 
consideration.

3.2. A draft Policy Overview Committee Work Plan for the ensuing 2019-20 
municipal cycle and beyond is attached at Appendix A to this report for 
approval by Members; subject to any comments made and adopted in 
Committee on 18 June 2019. 

3.3. The updated draft Plan reflects the Committee’s discussions at its last 
meeting on 19 March 2019, plus subsequent discussions between the 
Chairman, Senior Officers and Outside Bodies, to confirm items 
already proposed by Members, or agree any re-scheduling of those 
topics, together with a timeframe.

3.4. Members are invited to suggest additional items for inclusion in the 
draft Work Plan for the ensuing 2019-20 municipal cycle and beyond, 
attached as Appendix A to this report.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
18 JUNE 2019

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

8. Appendices

Appendix A – draft Policy Overview Committee Rolling Work Plan for 2019-20 
and beyond.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Previous 
2018-19 
Work Plan, 
Committee 
Agendas and 
Minutes

David Hook
(01322) 343276

Democratic Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

POLICY OVERVIEW ROLLING WORK PLAN 2019-20 and Beyond

June  2019 September 2019 December 2019 March 2020

Welfare Reform Update Air Quality Annual Status 
Report 2019

Kent Public Health Update – 
Government Green Paper 
and NHS England 10 Year 
Plan

Update from Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group

Committee Protocol Flytipping including 
Enforcement

Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects Annual Report  for 
2018-19

Update from Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust.

POC Annual Report 2018/19 Update from Virgin Care Ltd. 

Statutory Guidance from 
MHC&LG on Scrutiny in Local 
Authorities

Draft Work Programme for 
2019-20 and Beyond

Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring

Performance Monitoring Update Work Programme Update Work Programme Consider 2020-21 draft Work 
Programme

Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 19 March 2019
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	7 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 19 March 2019
	8 Welfare Reform Update
	9 Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, Quarter 4 of the 2018/19 Municipal Year
	APPENDIX A - Corporate Plan Key Actions (Q4 2018-19)
	APPENDIX B - Corporate Plan Performance Indicators (Q4 - 2018-19)

	10 Policy Overview Committee Annual Report for the 2018/19 Municipal Year
	11 Policy Overview Committee Protocol
	Policy Overview Committee Protocol June 2019

	12 Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities
	Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authorities

	13 Committee Rolling Work Plan for 2019/20 and Beyond
	Final APPENDIX A 2019-20 WORK PLAN


